







# **Management Plan**













National Park of Canada

# Management Plan



United Nations - H Educational, Scientific and - C Cultural Organization - T Organisation - V des Nations Unies pour l'éducation, - H Ia science et la culture - C

Kluane / Wrangell-St. Elias / Glacier Bay / Tatshenshini-Alsek World Heritage Site since 1979 Kluane / Wrangell-St. Elias / Glacier Bay / Tatshenshini-Alsek Site du patrimoine mondial depuis 1979



Le Réseau de rivières du patrimoine canadien

June 2010

© Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada, represented by the Chief Executive Officer of Parks Canada, 2010.

Cette publication est aussi disponible en français.

Visit the Kluane National Park and Reserve of Canada website at:

www.parkscanada.gc.ca/kluane

Library and Archives Canada Cataloguing in Publication

Kluane National Park and Reserve of Canada Management Plan

Catalogue No: R64-105/94-2010E ISBN: 978-1-100-15461-9

Front Cover Image Credits

Centre: HIKING NEAR CANADA CREEK IN THE Ä'ÅY CHÙ VALLEY. Parks Canada/F. Mueller Top left: CHAMPAGNE AND AISHIHIK FIRST NATION CITIZEN BARB HUME HARVESTING SOAPBERRIES. Parks Canada/F. Mueller Top centre: DALL'S SHEEP. Parks Canada/S. Davidson Top right: ICE-FISHING AT KATHLEEN LAKE. Parks Canada/F. Mueller

#### Kluane | iii National Park and Reserve of Canada Management Plan |

## Foreword



Canada's national historic sites, national parks and national marine conservation areas offer Canadians from coast-to-coast-to-coast unique opportunities to experience and understand our wonderful country. They are places of learning, recreation and inspiration where Canadians can connect with our past and appreciate the natural, cultural and social forces that shaped Canada.

From our smallest national park to our most visited national historic site to our largest national marine conservation area, each of these places offers Canadians and visitors several experiential opportunities to enjoy Canada's historic and natural heritage. These places of beauty, wonder and learning are valued by Canadians - they are part of our past, our present and our future.

Our Government's goal is to ensure that Canadians form a lasting connection to this heritage and that our protected places are enjoyed in ways that leave them unimpaired for present and future generations.

We see a future in which these special places will further Canadians' appreciation, understanding and enjoyment of Canada, the economic wellbeing of communities, and the vitality of our society.

Our Government's vision is to build a culture of heritage conservation in Canada by offering Canadians exceptional opportunities to experience our natural and cultural heritage.

These values form the foundation of the new management plan for Kluane National Park and Reserve. I offer my appreciation to the many thoughtful Canadians who helped to develop this plan, particularly to our dedicated team from Parks Canada, our cooperative management partners the Kluane National Park Management Board, Champagne and Aishihik First Nations and Kluane First Nation, and to all those local organizations and individuals who have demonstrated their good will, hard work, spirit of co-operation and extraordinary sense of stewardship.

In this same spirit of partnership and responsibility, I am pleased to approve the Kluane National Park and Reserve of Canada Management Plan.

Jim Prentice

Minister of the Environment

iv

# Recommendations

Recommended by:

Alan Latourelle Chief Executive Officer Parks Canada Diane Strand Chief

Champagne and Aishihik First Nations

Anne Morin Field Unit Superintendent Yukon Field Unit, Parks Canada Wilfred Sheldon Chief Kluane First Nation

Sean Sheardown

Superintendent Kluane National Park and Reserve of Canada, Parks Canada Luke Johnson Chair Kluane National Park Management Board vi

## **Executive Summary**

Kluane National Park & Reserve protects and celebrates a spectacular Canadian landscape of high mountain peaks, massive valley glaciers, boreal forests, northern wildlife, and rich cultural heritage, inviting all Canadians to explore an iconic wilderness environment of outstanding ecological integrity and cultural value. An important part of the traditional territory of the Southern Tutchone people, Kluane National Park & Reserve is managed in partnership with the Kluane First Nation and the Champagne and Aishihik First Nations, who continue to maintain their deep cultural and spiritual relationship to the land. It offers local residents and international audiences the opportunity to experience and learn about the land that has been home to Southern Tutchone people for thousands of years, and to discover the land, animals and seasons that are at the heart of their traditional culture and way of life. Kluane National Park & Reserve is known worldwide for its outstanding wilderness recreation opportunities, attracting mountaineers, white-water rafters and experienced hikers to its mountainous terrain and icy blue rivers. The park includes a portion of the Alsêxh/Alsek River, a designated Canadian Heritage River. Together with Alaska's Wrangell-St. Elias National Park and Preserve, Glacier Bay National Park and Preserve, and British Columbia's Tatshenshini-Alsek Park, Kluane National Park & Reserve is part of the largest international UNESCO World Heritage Site.

This new management plan builds on the park's classic wilderness experience to create more diverse opportunities for Canadians to explore and appreciate this national treasure. Using social science research and strategic planning, Parks Canada will develop, promote and deliver a wider range of visitor experience opportunities that will engage and connect with an expanded audience. Visitor experiences at Kluane

National Park & Reserve generally fit within three main types of experiences, identified in this plan as Drive Through Awareness, A Step Into the Wild, and Into the Heart of Kluane's *Wilderness*. Within these categories, park visitors will find a range of activities, facilities and programs to enrich each type of experience. Drive Through Awareness and A Step Into the Wild will be a primary focus for actions during the life of this plan, where new opportunities will be designed to meet the needs of highway travellers and audiences interested in discovering the park through day-use and short overnight activities. It is recognized that visitors who enjoy backcountry experiences as described in Into the Heart of Kluane's Wilderness are currently wellserved by existing programs and services. Working with First Nation and Government of Yukon partners, Parks Canada will develop and present modern, relevant, and engaging programs and facilities to welcome visitors to the new Champagne and Aishihik First Nations Cultural Centre and to the Tachal Dhal Visitor Centre, inviting them to explore the fascinating natural and cultural environment of the park. Existing facilities and services in the park, e.g., Kathleen Lake campground, will be used to promote increased use of the park by regional audiences and the local community, encouraging a wider range of activities and stronger personal ties to the park. A review of the park's trail system will address increasing visitor interest in front country hiking and mountain biking opportunities, and establish a sustainable trail system suitable for the park's maintenance capacity. New guidelines will permit two-way air access to designated landing sites in the park's greenbelt, providing new opportunities for visitors to experience the backcountry. Parks Canada will explore the feasibility of providing alternative roofed accommodation in the park, e.g., backcountry huts, yurts, commercial trailers, or wall tents, to expand camping

opportunities for new audiences. Working with the Champagne and Aishihik First Nations and Kluane First Nation, additional commercial motorboat access will also be considered, with the possibility of tours to be offered on some of the park's major rivers. Through strategic outreach programming and ongoing engagement with local audiences, the park's reach will be extended locally, regionally and nationally.

This management plan will continue to build stronger relationships with Kluane National Park & Reserve's First Nation partners, Champagne and Aishihik First Nations and Kluane First Nation, ensuring that cultural reintegration is actively supported, traditional knowledge and cultural resources are protected, and that training, employment and economic opportunities for both First Nations are pursued. The process that began through the Healing Broken Connections project will continue, and a strong First Nation presence in the park will enhance the visitor experience, ecological integrity, and cultural heritage of the park. Parks Canada will continue to work with the Kluane First Nation, Champagne and Aishihik First Nations and the Kluane National Park Management Board, to share in the effective and enduring cooperative management of the park, based on strong mutual respect and a shared understanding of respective responsibilities.

This new management plan will also maintain and improve the park's ecological integrity through the completion of a more comprehensive ecological monitoring program, a focus on the park's forest ecosystems, active management of species at risk and non-native species, and increased public communications about ecological integrity issues and activities in the park.

An area management approach included in this plan continues to define seven geographic areas in the park that offer distinct visitor experience opportunities, and identifies ways to provide a range of diverse and compatible visitor experiences best suited to each area. The unique ecosystems and landscape features of each area will be respected and incorporated into recreational and learning opportunities that meet the needs of a variety of audiences. Some areas will be managed for higher levels of multiple use activities and others will be managed for lower levels of use that facilitate experiences with high wilderness character.

As a whole, this management plan intends to build stronger and more relevant connections between Kluane National Park & Reserve and a wider Canadian audience. It will result in a greater variety of visitor experience opportunities, more meaningful visitor experiences, greater engagement with the local communities, further reintegration of First Nations into the park, strengthened relationships with First Nation partners and enhanced cooperative management.

# Table of Contents

| Foreword iii |  |  |  |  |
|--------------|--|--|--|--|
| Reco         | mmendationsv   |  |  |  |
| Exect        | utive Summaryvii   |  |  |  |
| 1.0          | Introduction   |  |  |  |
| 1.1          | An Updated Management Plan for Kluane National Park & Reserve 1                |  |  |  |
| 1.2          | Management Plan Review Process 1   |  |  |  |
| 2.0          | Importance of the Park – A Place of National and International<br>Significance |  |  |  |
| 2.1          | UNESCO World Heritage Site   |  |  |  |
| 2.2          | Canadian Heritage River  |  |  |  |
| 2.3          | National Significance  |  |  |  |
| 2.5          |  |  |  |  |
| 3.0          | Planning Context/Current Situation   |  |  |  |
| 3.1          | Renewal within Parks Canada  |  |  |  |
| 3.2          | Regional Context   |  |  |  |
| 3.3          | First Nation Presence  |  |  |  |
| 3.4          | Cooperative Management   |  |  |  |
| 3.5          | Current Situation  |  |  |  |
| 3.6          | 2008 State of the Park and Key Issues and Challenges                           |  |  |  |
| 4.0          | Vision Statement17   |  |  |  |
| 5.0          | Key Strategies19   |  |  |  |
| 5.1          | Experiencing Kluane – A Personal Journey                                       |  |  |  |
| 5.2          | Rediscovering Dän Keyi (Our People's Land)                                     |  |  |  |
| 5.3          | Nature Prevails - Keeping Kluane Healthy                                       |  |  |  |
| 5.4          | Building and Walking the Trail Together  |  |  |  |
| 5.5          | Significance Beyond Boundaries   |  |  |  |
|              | Anne Management Anneagh  |  |  |  |
| 6.0          | Area Management Approach   |  |  |  |
| 6.1          | Mush and Bates Lakes/Alder Creek Valley and Cottonwood Trail                   |  |  |  |
| 6.2          | Alsêxh/Alsek -Titl'àt Mẫn Tágà/Dezadeash River Valleys                         |  |  |  |
| 6.3          | - ,  |  |  |  |
| 6.4<br>6 -   | Ä'äy Chừ Valley  |  |  |  |
| 6.5          | Shắr Ndü Chù/Duke - Dän Zhùr Chù/Donjek River Valleys                          |  |  |  |
| 6.6          | The Icefields  |  |  |  |
| 6.7          | Highway Corridor45   |  |  |  |
| 7.0          | Partnership and Public Engagement47  |  |  |  |
| 8.0          | Zoning and Wilderness Declaration49  |  |  |  |

×

| 8.1            | Park Zoning System  | .49       |
|----------------|---|-----------|
| 8.2            | Wilderness Area Declaration   |           |
|                |   |           |
| 9.0            | Administration and Operations   | . 53      |
| 9.1            | Environmental Stewardship   |           |
| <b>J</b> .,    |   | • • • • • |
| 10.0           | Monitoring  | • 55      |
| 11.0           | Strategic Environmental Assessment                                    | • 57      |
| 11.1           | Introduction  | .57       |
| 11.2           | Assessment Approach and Findings                                      | •57       |
| 11.3           | Five Key Strategies   | . 58      |
| 11.4           | Area Management   | -         |
| 11.5           | Public Engagement   |           |
| 11.6           | Administration and Operations   |           |
| 11.7           | Monitoring  |           |
| 11.8           | Conclusions   |           |
| 11.0           | Conclusions   | 02        |
| Ackno          | wledgements   | 63        |
| ACKIN          |   | . 05      |
| Refer          | ences   | 64        |
| Kerer          |   |           |
| Gloss          | ary   | 66        |
| 010330         | ·····   |           |
| Sumn           | nary of Planned Actions   | 68        |
| Junn           |   | .00       |
| Anne           | ndix A  |           |
| •••            | nent of Significance for Kluane/Wrangell-St. Elias/Glacier Bay/       |           |
|                | • • • •   |           |
| ratsn          | enshini-Alsek   | •75       |
| A              | - div. D  |           |
| •••            |   | -1        |
| Zone           | I Special Management Areas  | .76       |
| •              |   |           |
| •••            | ndix C  |           |
|                | work for Monitoring of Ecological Integrity in                        |           |
| Kluan          | e National Park and Reserve – March 2010                              | .78       |
|                |   |           |
|                |   |           |
| Indica         | tors of Wilderness Character  | •79       |
| Mana           |   |           |
| Maps           |   |           |
| Map 1          |   |           |
| Map 2          |   |           |
| Map 3          |   | -         |
| Map ⊿          | Park zoning   | 51        |
| <b>T</b> . L ' |   |           |
| Table          | -   |           |
| Table          | •                               | 10        |
| Table          | 2 Summary of Actions for the 2010 Kluane National Park and Reserve    |           |
|                | Management Plan   | 68        |
| Table          | 3 Framework for monitoring of ecological integrity in Kluane National |           |
|                | Park and Reserve  | 78        |
|                |   |           |

# Parks Canada Heritage Areas in Yukon and Northern British Columbia



Map 1 – Regional setting

xii |

### 1.0 Introduction



Dezadeash River and Alsek Pass. Parks Canada

#### 1.1 AN UPDATED MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR KLUANE NATIONAL PARK & RESERVE

Parks Canada is responsible for administering a national system of protected heritage places, including national parks, national historic sites and national marine conservation areas; special places that help define Canada and Canadians. The Park Canada mandate has remained essentially unchanged for three quarters of a century:

On behalf of the people of Canada, we protect and present nationally significant examples of Canada's natural and cultural heritage, and foster public understanding, appreciation and enjoyment in ways that ensure the ecological and commemorative integrity of these places for present and future generations.

The *Canada National Parks Act* requires each national park to have a management plan.

These plans reflect the policies and legislation of Parks Canada and comprehensive land claim agreements and are prepared in consultation with Canadians. They are tabled in Parliament and reviewed every five years. The *Canada National Parks Act, Parks Canada Agency Act*, and the Parks Canada Guiding Principles and Operational Policies set the context for this responsibility. This management plan updates and replaces the 2004 management plan and provides long-term strategic direction for the management of Kluane National Park & Reserve of Canada (KNP&R) for the next five years.

#### **1.2 MANAGEMENT PLAN REVIEW PROCESS**

The management plan review was led by a planning team with representatives from Parks Canada, Champagne and Aishihik First Nations (CAFN), Kluane First Nation (KFN) and the Kluane National Park Management Board. 2

The White River First Nation was invited to participate in the plan review. Key documents used when reviewing and revising the park's management plan included the CAFN and KFN final agreements, the 2008 KNP&R State of the Park Report, the 2004 KNP&R management plan, the Parks Canada Agency Corporate Plan 2009/10 – 2013/14, and new national management planning guidelines outlined in the 2008 Parks Canada Guide to Management Planning.

Public consultation is an essential element in all management plan reviews and partners, stakeholders and the public were engaged in a variety of ways through the plan review process. Visitor experience opportunities have generated a lot of public interest since the establishment of the park, and continue to do so. A two-day Visitor Experience Opportunities Workshop was held in the fall of 2009, to discuss current and potential new visitor experience opportunities. Forty participants provided representation from local First Nations, the Kluane National Park Management Board, local businesses, tourism industry, environmental organizations, park users, Yukon government, the education community and Parks Canada. A broad range of ideas were discussed and the results of the workshop were summarized and circulated for broader public input through a newsletter.

Other key elements of consultation during the plan review included an on-line survey with local park operators and businesses, sessions with First Nation Elders and the Haines Junction Village Council, newsletters distributed to local residents, stakeholders and interested individuals by mail, email and the national Parks Canada website, and open houses in Burwash, Haines Junction and Whitehorse. Over 50 comment forms submitted following the open houses provided the planning team with thoughtful input on future directions for the park.

A final newsletter summarized "what was heard" and what was included in the final plan for the Minister's approval.

# 2.0 Importance of the Park – A Place of National and International Significance



Mount Logan. Parks Canada/W. Lynch

Kluane National Park & Reserve lies in the southwest corner of Yukon Territory, a vast mountain area (21,980 km<sup>2</sup>) within the traditional territory of the Champagne and Aishihik First Nations, the Kluane First Nation and the White River First Nation. First set aside as the Kluane Game Sanctuary in the early 1940s, it was declared a national park reserve in 1976. The 1993 Champagne and Aishihik First Nations Final Agreement established the southeastern portion of the park reserve as Kluane National Park. The Kluane First Nation Final Agreement was signed in 2003; the Tachal Region (northern portion of the park reserve) will retain park reserve status until the White River First Nation concludes a final agreement.

#### 2.1 UNESCO WORLD HERITAGE SITE

The World Heritage Convention is a United Nations agreement, endorsed by more than

100 countries, that recognizes the importance of protecting examples of the world's cultural and natural heritage. The convention states that the significance of these heritage resources transcends national boundaries and should be preserved for future generations. The Kluane/ Wrangell-St. Elias/Glacier Bay/Tatshenshini-Alsek World Heritage Site, almost 100,000 km<sup>2</sup> in size, is the largest international World Heritage Site (see Map 2; Appendix A for Statement of Significance). World Heritage status was first proclaimed in 1979 for Kluane National Park and Reserve and Wrangell-St. Elias National Park and Preserve, with the addition of Glacier Bay National Park and Preserve in 1992 and Tatshenshini-Alsek Park in 1994.

The qualities that led to the initial nomination were "an unbroken, pristine natural



Map 2 - Kluane/Wrangell-St. Elias/Glacier Bay/Tatshenshini-Alsek World Heritage Site

system with a rich variety of vegetation patterns and ecosystems, a wealth of wildlife populations including grizzly bears, Dall's sheep... and a number of rare plant communities. They also contain the largest non-polar icefield in the world and some of the world's most spectacular glaciers" (from the World Heritage Site plaque).

Through this management plan, Parks Canada will continue to work with partners in Alaska and British Columbia to ensure the World Heritage Site's outstanding universal value and integrity are conserved into the future.

#### 2.2 CANADIAN HERITAGE RIVER

The Canadian Heritage Rivers System is Canada's national program for freshwater heritage conservation. It is a cooperative program between the governments of Canada and all ten provinces and three territories. The objectives of the program are to give national recognition to Canada's outstanding rivers and to ensure long-term management that will conserve their natural, historical and recreational values for the benefit and enjoyment of Canadians, now and in the future.

The Alsêxh/Alsek River (Yukon portion) was one of the first rivers to be designated (1986). Initially designated for its natural values, the river has since become a world-class wilderness rafting river and its cultural values have become more widely recognized. A ten-year monitoring report (1997-2008) determined, "that the majority of the Alsêxh/Alsek River's natural heritage values remain intact, and, with the exception of changes due to natural processes, remain essentially unchanged over the last ten year period and since its original designation in 1986." A plaque commemorating the designation of the river to the Canadian Heritage Rivers System is located at the Titl'àt Mān Tágà/Dezadeash River day-use area in Haines Junction.

Through this management plan and the Alsêxh/ Alsek River Management Guidelines, the natural values that led to the nomination of the Alsêxh/ Alsek River as a Canadian Heritage River and the river's cultural and recreational values will be safeguarded and presented.

#### 2.3 NATIONAL SIGNIFICANCE

The characteristics that help define this part of the Northern Coast Mountains Natural Region and provide values for protection and celebration include:

#### PARK PURPOSE:

To protect for all time, and to present to the public, a natural area of Canadian significance representative of the Northern Coast Mountains Natural Region.

- The St. Elias Mountains, with many of Canada's highest mountains, including Mount Logan, Canada's highest peak at 5,959 m;
- The largest non-polar icefield in the world, with immense valley glaciers and wild rivers

   a vestige of the last Ice Age;
- The most genetically diverse population of grizzly bears in North America, a significant population of Dall's sheep, and the only land-locked kokanee salmon population in a Canadian national park;
- An ecological crossroads of Pacific Ocean influences, the Arctic and the boreal forest resulting in diverse vegetation communities;
- Local First Nations with strong ties to the land and commitment to maintaining this aspect of their culture;

#### The Kluane First Nation Final Agreement (Chapter 10, Schedule C, 1.0) states the following objectives for the park:

- To recognize Kluane First Nation history and culture, and the rights provided for in this schedule, in the planning, management, administration and operation of the Tachàl Region;
- To recognize and protect the traditional and current use of the Tachål Region by Kluane People in the development and management of the Tachål Region;
- To protect for all time a representative natural area of Canadian significance in the North Coastal Mountains Natural Region;
- To encourage public understanding, appreciation and enjoyment of the Tachal Region in a manner which leaves it unimpaired for future generations;

- To provide economic and employment opportunities to Kluane People in the development, operation and management of the Tachäl Region;
- To recognize that oral history is a valid and relevant form of research for establishing the historical significance of Heritage Sites and Moveable Heritage Resources in the Tachàl Region directly related to the history of Kluane People;
- To recognize the interest of Kluane People in the interpretation of Aboriginal place names and Heritage Resources in the Tachal Region directly related to the culture of Kluane People; and
- To integrate traditional and scientific knowledge in the management of the natural and cultural resources of the Tachål Region.

# The Champagne and Aishihik First Nations Final Agreement (Chapter 10, Schedule A, 1.0) states the following objectives for the park:

- To recognize Champagne and Aishihik First Nations history and culture, and the rights provided for in this schedule, in the establishment and operation of the park;
- To recognize and protect the traditional and current use of the park by Champagne and Aishihik people in the development and management of the park;
- To protect for all time a representative natural area of Canadian significance in the Northern Coast Mountains Natural Region;
- To encourage public understanding, appreciation and enjoyment of the park in a manner that leaves it unimpaired for future generations;
- Significant cultural resources, including an ancient obsidian quarry site, heritage trails and Aboriginal place names; and
- Wilderness character that provides opportunities for visitors to experience beauty, quiet, solitude, and wildlife in their natural setting.

#### Ecological Significance

The heart of KNP&R is the St. Elias Mountains, the youngest and some of the largest mountains in North America. Containing some of the largest valley glaciers in the world, the park is a vestige of the Ice Age. The other major mountain range of the park is the Kluane Ranges, bordering the Alaska Highway and Haines Road. Between this mountain range and the Icefield Ranges lies the Duke Depression, a complex of productive montane, subalpine and alpine areas. At present 18% of the park area is vegetated, largely a narrow green belt along the park's eastern boundary. Ecologically these are the most productive lands of KNP&R. They have been inhabited for thousands of years by Aboriginal people, whose close association with the land has created an important body of traditional knowledge. Officially excluded from the park area from the early 1940s until the mid-1970s, CAFN and KFN citizens are only now starting to spend time back in the park

- To provide economic opportunities to Champagne and Aishihik people in the development, operation and management of the park;
- To recognize that oral history is a valid and relevant form of research for establishing the historical significance of heritage sites and moveable heritage resources in the park directly related to the history of Champagne and Aishihik people; and
- To recognize the interest of Champagne and Aishihik people in the interpretation of Aboriginal place names and heritage resources in the park directly related to the culture of Champagne and Aishihik people.

and reconnect with the land. Assisting these Southern Tutchone people to reintegrate with the park area is a high priority; their involvement provides a significant contribution to ecosystem management.

KNP&R's population of grizzly bears is a significant wildlife resource and is considered an indicator of the health of the Kluane ecosystem. The grizzly bears that inhabit the park's glacial valleys have large home ranges and constitute one of the most viable populations of this species in any Canadian national park. Equally significant is the park's population of Dall's sheep. This ungulate is more characteristic of the park's northern areas, especially the alpine and subalpine zones of Tachàl Dhāl and the headwater areas of the Ä'äy Chừ and Dän Zhùr Chù/Donjek River watersheds.

The diversity of habitats, both inside and adjacent to KNP&R, contributes to a great variety of birdlife. Over 180 species have been reported, including recent increases in trumpeter swans and populations of raptors such as peregrine falcons, gyrfalcons, and bald and golden eagles. The park's lakes and streams contain lake trout, arctic grayling and several other fish species. Especially significant are the unique landlocked kokanee salmon of Sockeye, Louise and Kathleen lakes.

## 3.0 Planning Context/Current Situation

#### 3.1 RENEWAL WITHIN PARKS CANADA

Parks Canada is beginning to renew its work to better serve the needs of Canadians today and into the future. There are many factors currently influencing Parks Canada - shifts in the cultural makeup of our cities, an aging population, Canadian's changing connection to their environment, increasing threats to natural and cultural heritage, and changes in how Canadians spend their leisure time. In order for Parks Canada programs to continue to be relevant, it is necessary to take a fresh look at the needs and desires of Canadians. Parks Canada is seeking ways to better connect Canadians with KNP&R, increase visitation and strengthen outreach education.

#### 3.2 REGIONAL CONTEXT

#### Local Communities

The village of Haines Junction, with a population of approximately 800, is located at the intersection of the Alaska Highway and the Haines Highway just outside the park boundary. Haines Junction houses the park administrative headquarters. Other communities adjacent to the park include Klukshu, Destruction Bay and Burwash Landing. The Haines Highway runs 256 km south over the scenic Chilkat Pass to Haines, Alaska, a port of the Alaska Marine Highway that connects Alaska with the southern 48 states.

#### Developments in the Region

A right-of-way for a natural gas pipeline runs parallel to the Alaska Highway adjacent to KNP&R and crosses park lands for approximately three kilometres in the Congdon Creek area. In anticipation of development



Pond Hockey on Kathleen Lake. Parks Canada/K. Moylan

an extensive environmental review was done in the 1970s, but the project did not proceed at that time. Interest in pipeline development has recently been renewed, with two major partnerships carrying out planning and design work. Applications for project review and certifications are forecasted to be submitted in 2013. The National Energy Board, Major Projects Management Office, Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency, and the Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Board will participate in the review of the Canadian portion of the projects.

Local resource extraction interests and activities have occurred near KNP&R and will continue into the future. Timber harvesting occurs near the eastern park boundary under the guidance of an Integrated Landscape Management Plan. Small-scale placer gold mining continues to occur adjacent to the park, and recently many hundreds of quartz mining claims were staked in the Kluane Wildlife Sanctuary and on First Nation settlement land, including along approximately 80 kilometres of the park's northern boundary.

Another regional development with future impacts on the park is the upgrading of the Alaska Highway along the park boundary. Once this project is completed the park boundary will be adjusted to follow the edge of the final road routing, with a small allowance for right-of-way. With this finalized, and with a possible future agreement between White River First Nation and the Government of Canada, there is potential for the Tachầl Region to change from park reserve to park status.

Major transportation, resource extraction and energy corridor developments in the Shakwak Valley and the subsequent implications for the ecological integrity of KNP&R highlight the need to consider the impacts of regional land use decisions on park values.



Kluane First Nation member showing youth how to identify animal tracks. Parks Canada/F. Mueller

#### 3.3 FIRST NATION PRESENCE

Since time immemorial, the Southern Tutchone people, which includes CAFN and KFN, have lived throughout the area that is now the national park. They have adapted to this environment and acquired and refined the skills necessary to survive in this area. In 1943, the area was set aside as a game sanctuary, banning First Nation traditional harvesting activities such as hunting, trapping, and gathering plants and medicines. With this ban in place, the First Nations were effectively removed from the area, causing hardship and alienation from the land. Their traplines were taken away and their cabins were dismantled or burned.

Despite lifting the ban on hunting and trapping for First Nations in 1976, many First Nations citizens continued to avoid the area for fear of reprisal. Not until 1993 did the CAFN finally receive legislated assurance, through a comprehensive agreement, that they could return to their traditional lands in the Kluane area and resume harvesting in the park. In 2003, the KFN also negotiated a comprehensive agreement confirming similar rights. Subsistence use in the park includes the right to hunt, fish, gather edible plants and trap furbearing animals using traditional and current methods and equipment. Currently, subsistence activities in the park are low, but are anticipated to rise as local First Nation citizens become re-acquainted with the park.

#### Healing Broken Connections

Healing Broken Connections, a nationally funded project from 2004-2009, began the process to help reintegrate local First Nation citizens into the part of their traditional territories that is now the national park. Working collaboratively with CAFN and KFN, the project included several culture and science camps in the park, workshops, the collection of traditional knowledge, trips into the park, e.g., gopher harvest camps and the construction of several Njals (pole houses). The project's final report states, "Arguably the most significant product outcome from this project was the strengthened relationship between Parks Canada and First Nations." This project has helped pave the way for KNP&R and the First Nations to work together now and into the future.

Both the KFN and CAFN final agreements identify zones within the park where there will be no Aboriginal harvest except for the allowance within the KFN final agreement for a pre-defined harvest in one of the KFN No Harvest Zones. Three No Harvest Zones are identified in the CAFN final agreement, and two No Harvest Zones are identified in the KFN final agreement. Two of the No Harvest Zones in CAFN traditional territory are currently under review by the Kluane National Park Management Board. They will make a recommendation concerning proposed changes to the Minister of the Environment during the life of this management plan.

#### 3.4 COOPERATIVE MANAGEMENT

The Champagne and Aishihik First Nations Final Agreement and the Kluane First Nation Final Agreement ushered in a new era in the management of KNP&R. The Champagne and Aishihik First Nations Final Agreement established the creation of the Kluane National Park Management Board (the Board) and the two final agreements identify specific rights and responsibilities of the two First Nations, the Board and Parks Canada in the management of the park – a cooperative management regime based on shared responsibility. The Board can make recommendations to the Minister of the Environment.

The Kluane National Park Management Board consists of six voting members; two are nominees of CAFN, two are nominees of KFN and two are nominees of the Government of Canada. All are appointed by the Minister responsible for Parks Canada. The park superintendent sits on the Board as a nonvoting member. An advisory board, it provides advice to elected representatives and officials of KNP&R, CAFN and KFN.

#### 3.5 CURRENT SITUATION

Several significant events have happened since the last management plan in 2004. The two most significant events locally are the coming into effect of the *Kluane First Nation Final Agreement* (February 2004) and the nationally funded Healing Broken Connections project (2004 to 2009). The decision in 2009 to relocate the Kluane National Park Visitor Centre operations (Haines Junction) to the new CAFN Cultural Centre in the fall of 2011 will also have a major impact on park operations during the life of this management plan.

#### Kluane Ecosystems

Since the mid-1990s, a large-scale outbreak of spruce bark beetle has affected white spruce trees throughout 350,000 ha in the greater Kluane ecosystem, increasing local community concerns about the risk of forest fires and likely having an impact on visitor perceptions about the landscape. Research also shows glaciers on the Alaska-Yukon border melting at a rate three times of that in the 1950s.

The greater Kluane ecosystem is also affected by increasingly diverse land use demands outside the park. Significant landscape and forestry planning has recently taken place throughout the CAFN traditional territory. Since 2003, all of the Yukon, including the national park, uses a new project assessment tool, the *Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Act*. This tool examines both the environmental and socio-economic implications of proposed projects.

#### Species at Risk

Under the federal *Species at Risk Act* Parks Canada is responsible for the protection and recovery of listed species found in national parks. KNP&R and adjacent areas provide a seasonal or year-round home to several wildlife populations and one plant species that have been designated as Threatened or Special Concern by the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Some of these populations are listed in Schedule I of the *Species at Risk Act* and some are listed with COSEWIC (Table I).

Over the life of this plan, KNP&R may see the arrival of wood bison, a Threatened species reintroduced to the Yukon in the 1980s and 1990s through the National Bison Recovery Program. Local First Nations are concerned about potential spread of disease or displacement of other species by bison, as well as damage they might do to cultural resources and vegetation.

#### Table 1 — Species at Risk in Kluane National Park and Reserve

| SPECIES   | STATUS   |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|
|   | COSEWIC  | SARA (Schedule 1)  |  |
| Baikal sedge, Carex sabulosa                            | Threatened   | listed   |  |
| Wood bison, Bison bison athabascae                      | Threatened   | listed   |  |
| Common nighthawk, Chordeiles minor                      | Threatened   | listed   |  |
| Olive-sided flycatcher, Contopus cooperi                | Threatened   | listed   |  |
| Woodland caribou, <i>Rangifer tarandus caribou</i>      | Special Concern  | listed   |  |
| Peregrine falcon (Anatum), Falco<br>peregrines anatum   | Special Concern<br>(recently assessed<br>as no longer<br>Threatened) | listed as Threatened (this species is<br>currently undergoing consultation<br>for down-listing to Special Concern<br>under <i>SARA</i> . Until a decision is<br>made, it is still listed in Schedule I<br>as Threatened) |  |
| Rusty blackbird, Euphagus carolinus                     | Special Concern  | listed   |  |
| Grizzly bear, Ursus arctos<br>(northwestern population) | Special Concern  | not currently listed   |  |
| Wolverine, <i>Gulo gulo</i> (western population)        | Special Concern  | not currently listed   |  |
| Horned grebe, Podiceps auritus                          | Special Concern  | not currently listed   |  |
| Short-eared owl, Asio flammeus                          | Special Concern  | on <i>SARA</i> Schedule 3 - not yet listed<br>under Schedule 1   |  |

Research to understand the magnitude of impacts bison might have on natural and cultural resources is underway and will contribute to KNP&R's ability to make informed management decisions related to the management of the species should it expand its range to include the park.

While not a Species at Risk, there is also concern and on-going work related to the kokanee salmon, which received a poor rating and declining trend in the 2008 State of the Park Report.

Parks Canada is the lead agency for the on-going development of the recovery strategy for the

Baikal sedge, and will soon be working to identify its Critical Habitat.

#### **Invasive Species**

There are currently eight invasive, exotic plant species known to be in KNP&R or very near the boundary. In some instances, e.g., sweet clover, significant risks exist that the species could quickly move deep into the interior of the park with significant ecological consequences, such as impacts on wildlife distributions and visitor experience. Elk were introduced into the Yukon through the efforts of the Yukon Fish and Game Association in the 1950s. Similar to concerns about bison, local First Nations are concerned about potential spread of disease or displacement of other species by elk. The arrival of new species in the park will require management decisions. Parks Canada will need to conduct risk assessments related to the presence of non-native species, and continue to work with partners in the monitoring and appropriate management of these species.

#### **Cultural Resources**

Over the years, Parks Canada and local First Nations have conducted a variety of archaeological, oral history, and historical studies in the park and surrounding area. Over 250 archaeological sites have been identified in the park, including sites associated with early 20th century mining activities and a variety of pre-contact Aboriginal sites that indicate use of the park area for at least 7,000 years. Resources related to historic use are also abundant, including cabins from the Kluane Gold Rush and traditional First Nation sites for hunting, trapping and fishing. Mining cabins have been documented and mountaineering history and highway construction have also been researched. A number of isolated finds from the Icefields may reveal interesting information about the region's human history.

*Tangible cultural resources include archaeological sites, artifacts, and records.* 

Intangible cultural resources include oral history, placenames, songs, stories, and traditional knowledge of place and the ecosystem.

#### **Visitor Experience**

People come from all over the world to experience KNP&R. Recent surveys have revealed that the most popular recreational activities in the park are hiking, viewing wildlife, visiting the visitor reception centres, fishing and photography. Flight-seeing, mountaineering, rafting, skiing and vehicle-based sightseeing are other popular visitor activities. Social science research has revealed that encountering untouched nature, experiencing solitude and viewing wildlife in a natural setting are important underlying motivations for people visiting the park – part of the reason KNP&R has been valued by many as one of Canada's premier wilderness mountain parks for over 30 years. Spending time with family and friends is important for local residents using the park for recreation.

On-site interpretive programming includes an average offer of four to six guided interpretive hikes and campfire talks per week during the summer visitor season. Interpretive talks are also available at each of the park visitor centres on a daily basis, either on-demand or through group requests booked in advance, including school groups. Program themes and subjects are continually renewed to communicate current key park messages. One specific park program focussed on communicating messages about bear ecology and safety is a fixed component of the park interpretive offer. In the fall, winter, and spring most park services are reduced significantly. The Tachal Dhal Visitor Centre is closed during this time, and the KNP&R Visitor Centre in Haines Junction is open by appointment only. During this time, groups are welcome to book interpretive talks at the Visitor Centre, which offer an introduction to the natural and cultural history of the park.

Recently there has been a decline in visitors to the park's visitor centres and campgrounds, and a decline in overnight backcountry use. Visitation to the KNP&R Visitor Centre in Haines Junction has declined 18% over the last decade, and on average, overnight backcountry use in Kluane is down 38% over the last 10 years. Similarly, KNP&R's road-accessible campground at Kathleen Lake is down approximately 30% over the same period. The Government of Yukon's 2004 Yukon Visitor Exit Survey, Kluane Region also found that approximately 85% of visitors to the Kluane region actually stopped on their way through, but that only 6.6% of the visitors stopped or spent a night in KNP&R. These numbers indicate that, not only is visitation to the Kluane region in decline, but also that the majority of travellers passing through the Kluane region are not being attracted to stop at a visitor centre or spend time in the park.

In contrast to dropping overnight numbers, day use is estimated at more than 10,500 visitors per year, up substantially from the 2,000 to 3,000 estimated in the 2004 management plan. Holland America clients account for some of this rise. Trail and road counters installed over the last few years have improved the accuracy of user statistics.

The Kluane National Park and Reserve of Canada 2006 Visitor Survey and the more detailed Kluane Wilderness Study 2002 have provided visitor information related to satisfaction, understanding, motivations, perceptions of environmental impacts and park management priorities. Ninety-seven percent of visitors reported being satisfied (18%) or very satisfied (79%) with their visit to the park. Eighty-six percent of visitors were satisfied (34%) or very satisfied (52%) with their interpretive experience, but the availability of interpretive programs scored below the national target, and the KNP&R Visitor Centre audiovisual program received the lowest overall interpretation rating (25% satisfied; 52% very satisfied).

Major capital investments in recent years have been made in upgrading the interpretation and trailhead signage in the park. In addition, early in 2009, a decision was made to relocate the KNP&R Visitor Centre to the new CAFN Cultural Centre in Haines Junction, which will open in the fall of 2011. The new centre, while principally a cultural centre for CAFN, will also be the key contact with park visitors in Haines Junction, housing both the Parks Canada visitor centre and the Government of Yukon regional tourism centre.

#### Public Education and Awareness

After virtually no outreach education programming during the 1990s, a modest classroom program has been developed and presented locally and regionally since 2004. Two classroom programs about park ecosystems target grade 7 and 8 curriculum and are offered annually in Haines Junction, Whitehorse, and recently in other southern Yukon communities. Since 2007, Parks Canada has worked with St. Elias School in Haines Junction to provide support to their Experiential Science program, including the production of three resource binders. Parks Canada staff also make yearly visits to the schools in Beaver Creek and Destruction Bay and web-based educational resources about the park are also available.

For local residents who live in the communities bordering KNP&R, the park is not a destination that they visit, but an integral part of their own neighbourhood. Parks Canada staff have undertaken a variety of activities over the last number of years to engage and communicate with local audiences, including hosting special events to celebrate National Aboriginal Day, Canada Day, and Parks Day, and in the last few years have had a presence at the local music festivals. A guest speaker series throughout the year is targeted primarily at Haines Junction residents, and held in partnership with the Yukon Science Institute and the Arctic Institute. There is a need to work more with the other communities that border the park. Annual park snowmobile trips are also targeted to regional residents. Although these events are meaningful for a small group of locals, they have not drawn a large audience or wide range of community members. Parks Canada co-hosted a very successful winter family day at Kathleen Lake in March 2010 with several community groups. Future events like this will hopefully build stronger relationships with the local communities.

For the Canadian public as a whole, the Parks Canada website enables virtual visitors to learn key natural and cultural messages about KNP&R, and includes on-line curriculumlinked resources that allow teachers across Canada to present KNP&R programs to their classes. Continued work is required to maintain a current and interesting website, and there are opportunities to further enhance the website through new media products.

#### 3.6 2008 STATE OF THE PARK AND KEY ISSUES AND CHALLENGES

The KNP&R 2008 State of the Park Report identified and described some of the key issues and challenges facing the park.

#### Ecological Integrity

The State of the Park Report rated several bioregional indicators of ecological integrity in the park.

- The Icefields and Glaciers indicator received a Fair rating, due to the recent rapid change in melting rates, which may be a result of the changing climate. This may be affecting summer water levels and sedimentation levels in glacier-fed rivers and streams.
- The Tundra indicator received a Good rating, with a declining trend. Successful management actions related to recreational use have proved effective in ensuring the ecological integrity of the park. The mountain goat population remains stable and healthy, but the declining trend in the population of the Auriol herd of Dall's sheep, and a lack of data and understanding about the park's grizzly bear population, led to this indicator being assigned a declining trend.
- The Forests indicator received a Fair rating and declining trend. Major changes in the forest ecosystems are causing concern to First Nations, the local community and park scientists, largely due to the massive outbreak of spruce bark beetle over the last 13 years.
- There were insufficient measures available to evaluate the ecological integrity of two indicators Freshwater and Wetlands.
- Cultural Reintegration of the Southern Tutchone people was recognized as a sixth important indicator of ecological integrity in the park. The traditional knowledge arising from the long-established relationship of Southern Tutchone people to the land contributes to the park's ecological integrity. Due to the damaging history of excluding First Nations people from the park this indicator received a Poor rating with an improving trend. The Healing Broken Connections project has helped make

important progress in this area, but there is still work to be done to advance cultural reintegration in the park.



Njal. D. van Lieshout

#### Cultural Resources

Most of the indicators used to assess the state of cultural resources in the park received Fair ratings, including Archaeological Sites, Historic Objects, Cemeteries and Burial Sites, Archival Collections, and Messages Related to Cultural Resources. A collection of archaeological specimens housed in collections storage is well maintained and received a Good rating. Cultural resource management work has been undertaken since park establishment, but there is a need to develop a cultural resource management plan for the park, that will help identify priority actions to address the impacts of natural processes on archaeological sites and continue the inventory and recording of new and existing sites.

The Intangible Cultural Resources indicator received a Poor rating, reflecting the loss of First Nations oral history and traditional knowledge resulting from the historic long-term exclusion of First Nations from the park and changes in lifestyle. The aging of Elders places additional stress on this indicator, as Elders' traditional knowledge not passed on to future generations may be lost over time. A variety of methods and actions are needed to strengthen the preservation and continuation of intangible cultural resources in First Nation traditional lands within the park. This is a joint responsibility with the First Nations and requires actions within the life of this management plan.

#### Public Appreciation and Understanding

All of the indicators for public appreciation and understanding received a Fair rating. The 2008 State of the Park Report concluded that the indicators Visitor and Student Participation, Visitor Understanding, Visitor Satisfaction, and Active Support all demonstrate some level of success, but more work is required in each of these areas. While an interpretive program has been offered for many years, the lack of an interpretive plan has left gaps in the program. In addition a better understanding of audience needs should be used to inform new product and program development.

Local residents living in the communities bordering the park are a key park audience as, in the long-term, their actions have the potential for much greater impact on the park – both positive and negative – than those of park visitors. Some community outreach programs exist, but new methods for engagement are needed. In recent years, local and regional classroom programs have been developed and delivered, and this should continue to be a focus.

More broadly, on a Yukon-wide level and a national level, outreach objectives and actions need to be defined. A variety of educational resources are available to students and others on the Parks Canada website and links through other websites, but outreach at this level has not been considered strategically. The lack of an outreach plan was identified in the State of the Park Report as a key issue.

#### **Visitor Experience**

All indicators for Visitor Experience also received a Fair rating.

- The Understanding Visitors indicator showed a good understanding of the park's backcountry users, but a need to simplify the general use of audience types and prioritize them. More research is also required to understand potential audiences.
- The Providing Opportunities indicator showed some high levels of opportunity for park visitors, but outdated signage and capital

assets, including the main park visitor centre, were recognized as deficiencies.

- The Delivering High-quality Service indicator showed 97% of respondents in a 2005/06 survey reported being satisfied (18%) or very satisfied (79%). Some services, however, such as high quality of service, value for money and availability of pre-trip information, failed to meet the 50% very satisfied rating. Mechanisms are needed to measure satisfaction of users such as school groups, bus groups and local residents.
- There was insufficient information to assess the Connecting Visitors Personally with Place indicator.

Several factors are driving the need to review and revise the visitor experience offer in the park:

- Changing visitor patterns decreasing backcountry use; increasing frontcountry use;
- Changing tourism trends an aging and more affluent population looking for greater comforts while travelling;
- Renewal work within Parks Canada, striving to better serve the needs of Canadians in order to continue being relevant into the future;
- Local First Nation economic interests in tourism-based businesses providing employment and a greater range of visitor opportunities;
- Funding pressures on the maintenance of visitor facilities and assets, e.g., park trails, campground; and
- Needing to review the park's visitor opportunities within a regional tourism context.

#### Cooperative Management

Cooperative management was rated as Fair overall, through a qualitative assessment process that did not rate individual measures. Cooperative management has been in place since 1995. The Kluane National Park Management Board has experienced successes and frustrations over the years and it continues to evolve. Improving relationships between Parks Canada, CAFN and KFN has led to government-togovernment relations playing a significant and growing role in the cooperative management of the park. The management plan needs to define ways in which cooperative management can continue to be strengthened over the life of the plan. While working with the best of intentions, there is a lack of common understanding of what cooperative management means in practical terms for the park. There is also a need for further relationship building and communication with park staff and the broader community. 

## 4.0 Vision Statement



Grizzly bears. H. Fitzgerald

A park vision is meant to convey the special character of KNP&R and paint an inspiring picture of the future desired state of the park over the next 15 to 20 years.

#### This is a living land; this is Dän Keyi.

The ecological integrity of the park is maintained, while showcasing the essence of this land to Canadians and visitors. Cooperative management is shared by Parks Canada, Champagne and Aishihik First Nations, Kluane First Nation and the Kluane National Park Management Board. Together with our First Nation partners, we engage the people and communities that share Kluane's landscapes.

Kluane National Park is a vibrant and diverse landscape. The product of a relationship that has existed between land, plants, animals and human beings for thousands of years, it continues to evolve.

To stand in the timeless majesty of its mountains, glaciers and valleys is humbling; to witness the beauty and power of grizzly bears, Dall's sheep, and other wildlife, which fills its vast expanse, instils in us a sense of wonder and renewal; to share this land with our First Nation partners, helps in understanding how people can live in harmony with their natural and physical surroundings.

An easily attainable wilderness experience, with family and friends, or entirely alone, creates a wealth of memories. Kluane provides us with personal challenges that can be found on the summits of its mountains, in the depths of its valleys, and on its powerful rivers. It is truly a breathtaking, world-class wilderness; part of a UNESCO World Heritage Site.

Kluane is more than its physical geography of high mountains and rushing rivers, it is a land that embraces the human and cultural significance that helps shape this landscape. The prosperity of its ecosystems depends on the good health of its water, land, plants, animals and people.

We invite you to experience and learn from a living park, walk on the path of modern cooperation and conservation, and discover Kluane.

Welcome. Dannch'e.

### 5.0 Key Strategies



Southern Tutchone youth drumming as part of Hand Games at Healing Broken Connections Ka'Kon Camp, August 2007. D. van Lieshout

*Key strategies* describe an integrated, focused approach of how the park will be managed in the mid- to long-term. The strategies set the path to achieve the park vision in an integrated fashion, while addressing park challenges. Within a key strategy, objectives are a more specific description of outcomes (short- to long-term). Key actions state what will be done within the five year term of the management plan's implementation.

# Park Vision > Key Strategies > Objectives > Key Actions

Five key strategies will help focus work over the coming years.

#### 5.1 EXPERIENCING KLUANE - A PERSONAL JOURNEY

The main objectives of this strategy are to offer a diverse range of memorable visitor experience opportunities, promote learning and appreciation of the park's natural and cultural resources, and attract new visitors by offering desirable and relevant opportunities.

For over 30 years, KNP&R, a part of a world heritage site, with iconic images of glaciers, grizzly bears and Dall's sheep, has attracted international attention as a premier wilderness recreation destination. Whether scaling Canada's highest peak, or viewing it on an over-flight of the park, visitors have memorable experiences. Changing visitor patterns and tourism trends in recent years has led to decreasing use in the backcountry and increasing use in the park's front country. There is also a growing interest in First Nation culture and an interest on the part of the local First Nations to share their rich cultures with visitors.

This strategy recognizes the history of the park as a wilderness park, and will build on these strengths by expanding the range of visitor opportunities in the park, to attract new and potentially larger audiences to enjoy and learn about the park, facilitating a greater appreciation and understanding of the unique natural and cultural landscapes of KNP&R. It emphasizes the importance of the personal connections visitors make with the park. Education about the

The CAFN Cultural Centre and Tachal Dhal Visitor Centre – Gateways to Kluane

The visitor centre operations in Haines Junction will be relocating to the new CAFN Cultural Centre in the fall of 2011. The building will be owned and operated by CAFN, but Parks Canada will have its own distinct exhibits, programs and staff presence. This exciting new centre will be primarily a cultural and community centre for Champagne and Aishihik First Nations citizens, and will also provide innovative and engaging experiences where visitors can learn about the culture and heritage of CAFN, KFN, KNP&R and the region. It will offer a "one stop shop" destination for park and tourism information, creating a strong draw for independent highway travellers, bus tours, local and Yukon residents, First Nation members, and school and youth groups. Modern facilities, renewed exhibits, and coordinated services and programs will ensure that this broad range of audiences enjoys meaningful and relevant experiences. The shared planning and presentation of the new centre will allow Parks Canada to work with CAFN and KFN on developing and *delivering culturally-based interpretive* themes and programs related to the park. State-of-the-art exhibits, a new highdefinition video, improved visitor service facilities, personal programs, and special

park, its unique features, continuing importance to local First Nations, and ecological issues facing it, will help build memorable personal experiences for visitors.

Most visitor experiences fit within one of three main types; *Drive Through Awareness*; *A Step into the Wild*; and *Into the Heart of Kluane's Wilderness*. During the life of this management plan, work will focus on improving the opportunities for visitors seeking *Drive Through Awareness* and *A Step into the Wild* experiences.

events will help visitors to feel a personal connection to the park, and promote greater enjoyment and participation in learning experiences. The new KNP&R visitor centre will become the hub of programming for the park, inviting visitors to explore the park through a range of recreational activities, interpretive programs, and community events. For some, a visit to the centre will be their main experience of the park. For others, it will be a jumping off point for their park visit.

Tachàl Dhāl Visitor Centre will continue to serve visitors at the north end of the park, where there are excellent opportunities to view Dall's sheep and enjoy day and overnight hikes in the Ä'äy Chir Valley and beyond. Exhibits have been upgraded in recent years, incorporating the cultural heritage of KFN. Discussions between KNP&R and KFN about the First Nation having a greater role in operations at Tachal Dhal are on-going. Ideas developed in the Kluane First Nation's Impacts and Benefits *Plan include the possibility of expanding* the Tachal Dhal Visitor Centre to include a food concession, tour booking centre, and a retail area for KFN artwork, crafts and products. Future plans are still under consideration, but visible outcomes are likely during the life of this management plan.

Drive Through Awareness: Casual visitors and highway travellers are an important park audience, making up the largest percentage of park visitors. Many of these visitors are en route to and from Alaska and are literally driving by the park. The impressive scenic drive along the Alaska and Haines highways and stops at the visitor centres are their only experiences of the park. Highly visible signage providing a sense of welcome (currently lacking), and engaging exhibits and staff at the visitor centres are key to their enjoyment and appreciation of the park's natural and cultural heritage. This brief visit is also their opportunity to learn about the thriving First Nation culture in the region. For some, a brief but memorable experience may lead to a longer future visit to the park. Drive Through Awareness focuses on serving the needs of these visitors at the park's two visitor centres (see sidebar).

A Step into the Wild (primarily day-use and short overnight trips): Other visitors are seeking a personal experience that engages their senses and makes contact with the park environment. They enjoy opportunities that allow them to enter the world of KNP&R in comfort and security. Excellent interpretive exhibits and visitor information at the visitor centres support their exploration of the park. A wide variety of day and short overnight opportunities invite them into Kluane country. They may stay at a park or territorial campground or enjoy a night or two at one of the local B&Bs, motels or lodges. For those seeking more in-depth knowledge, interpretive walks and First Nation cultural programming will be available. For those seeking a brief taste of the park's inner landscapes, commercial flights over the park allow access to the majesty of its interior glaciers and mountains. Easier air access and guided trips like boat tours will help visitors with less time or backcountry experience explore farther into the park. All of these opportunities will enrich visitors' understanding, appreciation and enjoyment of the park. A Step into the Wild focuses on offering authentic connections with nature and First Nation culture to a more diverse audience and greater number of visitors.

*Into the Heart of Kluane's Wilderness* (backcountry hiking, rafting, mountaineering):

KNP&R offers adventurous visitors the opportunity to experience a range of backcountry explorations in the iconic wilderness of the park. Visitors looking for moderate and challenging multi-day trips enjoy opportunities like hiking in the Ä'äy Chừ Valley, watching grizzly bears and climbing Observation Mountain to view the Kaskawulsh glacier. For experienced wilderness travellers, extended hiking, rafting, skiing and mountaineering trips offer unforgettable opportunities to delve more deeply into the rich natural and cultural environment of the park. The park visitor centres and staff provide information and services to support each of these activities, allowing visitors to experience their own challenging and rewarding journeys in KNP&R. Into the Heart of Kluane's Wilderness focuses on providing the more traditional multi-day backcountry wilderness experience for which the park is famous.

Use of the Visitor Experience Cycle tool will ensure that Parks Canada addresses each important stage of the visitor experience at KNP&R, including wishing, planning, travelling, arriving, visiting, departing, and remembering. As part of the trip cycle, this strategy will address "arriving", as there is a lack of a sense of welcome when visitors arrive at the park, as there are no park gates, identity signs on the main highways, or orientation exhibits.

# Direction for Expanding Visitor Experience Opportunities

The range of opportunities offered to park visitors continues to elicit significant public interest from the many people who care passionately about the park and its future. As part of the plan review process, a Visitor Experience Opportunities Workshop was held with 40 participants to discuss current and potential new visitor experience opportunities for the park. The main themes that emerged as part of a visitor experience visioning exercise were: increase front country opportunities; engage local people/youth/energy; education; quality wilderness experiences; increase backcountry opportunities; increase infrastructure; communication with partners; and promotion. Many good ideas were generated and the public was then given an opportunity to comment on

the ideas as part of the plan review process. The following are ideas that will be explored further for implementation in the coming years:

- Develop activities that engage artists with visitors, locals and Canadians.
- Partner with local First Nations to expand the visitor offer.
- Expand activities at Kathleen Lake, e.g., playground at the campground, more community events.
- Increase activities for highway travellers, e.g., use new media to provide interpretation.
- Partner with local businesses and park operators to market the Kluane Region.

The sections below (Park Trails to Winter) provide more specific direction on next steps towards implementing some of the ideas from the workshop that would be new to KNP&R. Actions related to these ideas are found in this key strategy or within the individual area concepts (Chapter 6).

Major new recreational activities and events will undergo an assessment as described in Parks Canada's Recreational Activity and Special Event Assessments bulletin. New commercial operations will be subject to public review and environment assessment under the *Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Act.* In addition, any proposed changes to park zoning will include public consultation. The following activities will be prohibited in the park, due to national policy or local decisions: ATV use is prohibited nationally; personal watercraft (sea-doo) use is prohibited locally; and heli-skiing does not fit national policy. All Visitor Experience opportunities in KNP&R must meet the following criteria, as presented at the 2009 Visitor Experience workshop.

- Respect provisions of the Canada National Parks Act, Champagne and Aishihik First Nations Final Agreement, Kluane First Nation Final Agreement, Species at Risk Act, and other relevant legislation and policy;
- 2. Respect opportunities for future generations;
- Respect the long association and traditional and current use that First Nations have with and in the park;
- 4. Maintain the ecological integrity of the park;
- Maintain the wilderness character of the park;
- Maintain cultural resources within the park - must not result in damage or loss of cultural resources;
- Complement current visitor activities/ opportunities; do not unreasonably compromise existing uses;
- Accommodate a diversity of activities and consider them in a regional context (i.e., what is offered in the region outside the park);
- 9. Be interesting/doable activities; likely to succeed; and
- 10. Consider the potential for economic opportunities, especially for First Nations people.


Map 3 - Visitor experience opportunities

# Park Trails

Hiking is one of the most popular activities in the park. There are approximately 200 km of trails and many recognized hiking routes found in KNP&R (Map 3). The majority of the existing trail system is based on old mining roads and trails built prior to park establishment in the early 1970s. The trails range from 20 minute walks to more difficult five to six day hikes. In contrast to trails, routes typically follow no set path and are not maintained by the park. They follow streambeds and river channels, alpine meadows and ridgelines, game trails, and occasionally old mining roads. Routes are generally long and challenging.

There is a need to conduct a comprehensive review of the park's trail system. Visitor needs are changing, maintenance standards have changed over the years and the current trail system is not sustainable. During the plan review, people indicated a desire for more front country hiking opportunities, loop trails and a desire for mountain biking opportunities beyond the ones now offered on old mining roads. The Cottonwood Trail and Auriol Trail are of particular interest to mountain bikers. Maintenance standards on the Mush Lake Road will also be included in this review.

Early in the plan implementation, a trail review will be undertaken and interested individuals will have an opportunity to provide input into the process. The objective is a sustainable trail system, offering a greater diversity of opportunities to visitors.

# Air Access

There are currently eight designated landing sites located within KNP&R that support extended back-country hiking, rafting and mountaineering trips. Five are located within the Icefields (where visitors can fly in and out and day-trips are permitted) and three within the greenbelt area (Onion Lake, Lowell Lake, Bighorn Lake, Map 3). At the greenbelt landing sites, visitors have been permitted to fly one way, either in or out, to support backcountry travel in more remote areas of the park. To expand backcountry opportunities to more visitors, drop-off and pick-up will be now be permitted at the Onion Lake and Bighorn



Parks Canada/F. Mueller

Lake sites. Permitting visitors to fly both ways will help facilitate day trips to some of these areas and make it easier for people to spend time in the backcountry. Two way access at Lowell Lake will not be permitted because of previously identified cumulative effect concerns in Hegmann (1995), and compatibility concerns. An alternative to Lowell Lake site is the Dusty Glacier, where day use landings will continue to be permitted to facilitate a "touch a glacier" wilderness experience. In addition, one or two two-way helicopter landing sites in the green belt will be sought to provide a more readily accessible alpine-based hiking experience. All aircraft landings in the park continue to require a landing permit. Guidelines will be developed to ensure high quality visitor experience and the maintenance of wilderness character and ecological integrity. Education will be important to make sure visitors are fully prepared for travel in these more remote areas. Work from the 2004 management plan to designate a fixed-wing landing area at Bighorn Lake will continue.

#### Alternate Roofed Accommodation

Several national parks have huts in the backcountry for visitor use (e.g., Alpine Club huts in the Rockies) and some are piloting new forms of accommodation in the front country (e.g., yurts and commercial camper trailers in campgrounds). KNP&R may pursue this type of facility at the Kathleen Lake campground, to be offered by a third party. The park will also be open to proposals for rustic commercial accommodation elsewhere in the park for visitor use, e.g., cabin, wall tent. The local First Nations will be consulted if proposals come forward.

#### **Commercial Motorboat Access**

Currently there is a commercial motorboat tour offered at Kathleen Lake by a local First Nation operator. The 2004 plan also provided for a CAFN business to offer a motor-assisted float trip on the Titl'àt Mān Tágà/Dezadeash River between Haines Junction and Serpentine Creek (not yet offered). To help encourage the development of the Titl'àt Mān Tágà/Dezadeash River float, a proposal for motor-assisted float trips in both directions (rather than return by road) will be accepted.

During plan consultations, the majority of respondents did not support an expansion of commercial motorboat access in the park, citing concerns about disturbance to others and wildlife, and maintaining wilderness character. The CAFN and KFN final agreements give the First Nations rights of first refusal on any new licenses issued for the commercial operation of motor-assisted boat tours permitted in the park. Both First Nations' final agreements include as one of the objectives for the national park, to provide economic opportunities to CAFN and KFN in the development and operation of the park. To assist in providing economic opportunities for CAFN and KFN, expanded commercial motor-assisted boat tours (which could include motorboats and jet boats) will only be considered from a CAFN or KFN business for Ä'äy Chừ (Slims River) and from a KFN business for the Dän Zhur Chu/Donjek River. Either of these new offers would require a park zoning change and an environmental and socioeconomic assessment. Public consultation is part of both of these processes. If the motorboat tours go ahead, the economic, environmental and compatibility feasibility and success of these new tours, in conjunction with new technology advancements and changing visitation patterns, will determine if motorboat access could be expanded into other areas of the park during future management plan reviews.

# Winter Use

During the winter, KNP&R offers recreational experiences characterized by outstanding opportunities for solitude and quiet in a natural setting where wildlife is largely undisturbed by human influences. Winter experiences are primarily day use cross-country skiing on a variety of park trails, ice-fishing at Kathleen Lake, and a limited number of overnight skiing and dogsled trips. Snowmobile use in the park will remain limited to the surface of Kathleen Lake to facilitate a winter experience; along the abandoned pipeline right-of-way between Haines Junction and Titl'àt Mān/Dezadeash Lake; and during one to two annual parksanctioned snowmobile trips targeted to local residents. Currently, most winter park users are local residents. Increased winter tourism will be encouraged through offering special events and partnering with others.

## Park Interpretation

New park capacity and staff positions related to visitor experience will facilitate the development of a more strategic and expanded interpretive offer in the park. Interpretive planning will determine key park messages to be communicated, identify gaps in the current offer and identify future opportunities. The majority of visitors go to at least one of the park's visitor centres, and for many the visitor centre is their main contact with the park. The two visitor centres will therefore continue to provide the best opportunities to share the park's stories with this audience. Interpretive products and services will be strengthened through the use of new technologies and media in order to be more relevant and engaging. Strategic interpretive planning will ensure that KNP&R offers a variety of programs and experiences designed to meet the needs and interests of a variety of park visitors.

#### Area Concepts

The key strategy Experiencing Kluane – A Personal Journey looks at aspects of the visitor experience that apply across the park. The seven geographic areas of the park that have been used since the 1990 management plan will continue to frame the visitor experience opportunities and ecological integrity objectives in different areas of the park as area concepts. The seven geographic areas are described in Chapter 6 (Map 3).

# EXPERIENCING KLUANE - A PERSONAL JOURNEY: A 5-YEAR PLAN

# Objective 1:

Diverse opportunities for visitors appeal to a broader range of visitors and increases visitation.

# Targets:

- Visitation increases 16% over the next three years, to a total of 43,000 annual visitors by 2012 (up from 37,144 in 2009).
- On average, 90% of visitors surveyed are satisfied with their visit and on average, 75% of visitors are very satisfied.
- Complete trail review by 2012; then initiate implementation.

# Actions (also refer to area concepts, Chapter 6):

- I. Conduct and initiate implementation of a comprehensive review of the park's trail system.
- 2. Develop activities that will engage artists with visitors, locals and Canadians, e.g., Artists in the Park.
- 3. Partner with local First Nations to expand the visitor offer.
- 4. Consider proposals for rustic commercial accommodation in the park.
- 5. Working with others, promote increased winter visitation through awareness and special events, e.g., host at least one winter special event annually.
- 6. Conduct on-going cyclical social science research including Visitor Information Program surveys to gauge visitor needs and interests, satisfaction, and understanding.
- 7. Investigate, and if feasible establish, one or two two-way helicopter landing sites in the greenbelt.

# Objective 2:

*Visitors, local residents and other Canadians appreciate and understand the park's natural and cultural resources.* 

# Targets:

- On average, 85% of visitors at surveyed locations consider the park meaningful to them.
- On average, 60% of visitors consider that they learned about the natural and cultural heritage of the place.

# Actions:

- 1. Develop an interpretive plan for the park by 2013; then initiate implementation. The plan will provide direction on key audiences, types of programs, messages, methods for delivery and interpretive products.
- 2. Complete the highway and trailhead sign project.

# EXPERIENCING KLUANE - A PERSONAL JOURNEY: A 5-YEAR PLAN

# Objective 3:

Current markets continue to enjoy the park and new markets are attracted to visit the park.

# Targets:

- Identify potential new market segments using social science tools.
- On average, 90% of visitors surveyed report that they enjoyed their visit.

# Actions:

- 1. Conduct social science research to guide park investment, operational and marketing decisions e.g., to determine level of awareness of KNP&R with Yukoners and Alaskans to help inform promotion activities.
- 2. Identify targeted audiences and strategies for promoting visitor experiences in the park e.g., regional audiences, Yukon families, youth groups, school groups.
- 3. Update and expand information and marketing tools associated with the park e.g., photos, website, Explorer Quotient, social networking.
- 4. Locally implement the national Parks Canada branding program.
- 5. Work with others to promote the park and cross-market other regional attractions.

# Objective 4:

The park visitor centre in the CAFN Cultural Centre is open and operational and both visitor centres welcome and orient visitors to the park and provide engaging interpretation.

# Targets:

Relocate the visitor centre operations in Haines Junction to the new CAFN Cultural Centre by the fall of 2011.

## Actions:

- Complete the design, fabrication and installation of exhibits, A/V production and other necessary components of the park visitor centre at the new CAFN Cultural Centre in Haines Junction.
- 2. Work with CAFN and Yukon government to set up operations and deliver programming in the new CAFN Cultural Centre.
- 3. Work with KFN to further develop Tachal Dhal to provide more services to visitors and economic opportunities for the First Nation.

#### **Guiding Principles**

The following principles will be used to guide recreational use management within the park:

- Subsistence activities will take priority over recreational activities, and may influence recreational activities in KNP&R.
- KNP&R's wilderness backcountry areas will be managed so visitors can experience a sense of freedom, solitude, natural quiet, challenge and self-reliance.
- The park will use a variety of techniques for managing recreational use to ensure ecological integrity, the protection of cultural resources and high quality wilderness experiences. These include limits on group size, length of stay, number of commercial operators and aircraft landings, quotas, reservation systems and trip scheduling, use of designated campsites, routes and trails, permanent or temporary closures, Leave No Trace education and mandatory use of bear canisters.
- Scientific research and traditional knowledge will be used to guide recreational use management decisions.
- Recreational use activities must be consistent with fostering a greater understanding and appreciation of park values and interpretation themes.

# 5.2 REDISCOVERING DÄN KEYI (OUR PEOPLE'S LAND)

The main objectives of this strategy are to acknowledge, foster and respect the enduring First Nation presence in the ecosystem and promote the understanding, appreciation and stewardship of the cultural landscapes, resources and values of the park.

This key strategy will concentrate on honouring, supporting, and promoting an understanding of the important ongoing relationships between the area that is now the national park and KFN and CAFN citizens. It will further work started by the Healing Broken Connections project and ensure that the First Nations' heritage, knowledge, culture, and connection to the park area continue and are more fully integrated into the park's management and activities. The traditional and continuing presence of First Nations in the park is recognized for its importance to the ecological integrity of the park, and First Nations use and practices in the park will be actively supported. The integral role of First Nations within the park ecosystem will be communicated through interpretive and educational programs and materials.

This strategy also involves important cultural resource management work to ensure the protection and presentation of the park's considerable cultural resources. Cultural resources and landscapes in the park will be honoured and included in park management decisions and communications activities. Cultural resources will be managed according to a cultural resource management plan, to be developed in cooperation with KFN and CAFN partners.

Economic opportunities related to the park are a priority for both First Nations. The CAFN and KFN final agreements both specify certain economic opportunities associated with the park, including direct employment, potential commercial operations (e.g., horse riding, dog sledding, motor-assisted boat tours) and trail construction and maintenance work. It is recognized that some of the opportunities outlined in the final agreements may no longer warrant economic investment, therefore, future economic opportunities should be based on the spirit of the agreements, rather than what is explicitly stated in the agreements. Some of the actions related to First Nations economic opportunities are found in the Experiencing Kluane - A Personal Journey key strategy and the area concepts (Chapter 6).

This strategy will continue to strengthen the relationship between Parks Canada and its First Nations partners, and foster deeper understanding and support by visitors. In future it is hoped that this strategy will require less focus as it will simply become how work is done.

# REDISCOVERING DÄN KEYI: A 5-YEAR PLAN IMPLEMENTATION

# Objective 1:

Working with CAFN and KFN, fulfil the objectives outlined in their respective final agreements, with respect to KNP&R.

# Targets:

- Have a joint identity program in place by 2015, in which the involvement of First Nations in the creation and management of KNP&R is reflected in signage, uniforms and communication products related to KNP&R.
- Finalize the transfer of a patrol cabin to KFN by the end of 2010.
- Establish a baseline of First Nation use of the park (or presence in the park) by 2015.

## Actions - working with CAFN and KFN:

- 1. Continue to provide economic, training and employment opportunities to CAFN and KFN in the operation and management of the park.
- 2. Work with KFN and CAFN to identify and develop Aboriginal cultural tourism opportunities associated with the park.
- 3. With KFN and CAFN, develop and deliver communications for First Nation citizens, visitors and the general public, outlining First Nation rights within the park.
- 4. Continue to facilitate reintegration of CAFN and KFN citizens into their traditional territory in the park, e.g., finalize the transfer of a patrol cabin to KFN and work with CAFN and KFN to develop new structures for their use.
- 5. Achieve joint identity of the cooperative managers of KNP&R, e.g., signs, uniforms.
- 6. With CAFN and KFN, finalize the KNP&R sign plan, including where Southern Tutchone should be included.
- 7. Continue work to locate and map First Nation camps and heritage trails.
- Recognize and communicate the history of First Nation cabins and camps lost to First Nations when the park was established and work cooperatively towards resolution of this issue.

# Actions - working with Kluane First Nation:

- 1. Establish a significant relationship in the Tachäl Region e.g., park staff present in Burwash Landing.
- 2. Participate in KFN community development planning processes as requested.
- 3. Work with KFN to develop economic opportunities at the Tachal Dhal Visitor Centre.
- 4. Continue to jointly develop interpretive signs around key park sites in the Tachäl Region.
- 5. Support the implementation of the Kluane First Nation Impacts and Benefits Plan.

# REDISCOVERING DÄN KEYI: A 5-YEAR PLAN IMPLEMENTATION

# Objective 2:

Cultural reintegration, an indicator of the park's ecological integrity, is improved.

# Targets:

- The cultural reintegration indicator condition and trend will change from poor/improving to fair/stable by 2013.
- Increase the percentage of visitors who understand the role of First Nation activities and history in the ecological integrity of the park.
- By the next State of the Park Report in 2013, at least three measures are in place to assess and track the status of cultural reintegration.

## Actions:

- Continue the legacy of the Healing Broken Connections that will facilitate the reintegration of CAFN and KFN citizens into their traditional territory within the park e.g., participate in culture camps for First Nation youth and citizens, promote First Nation participation in field work and research in the park.
- 2. Develop measures for the cultural reintegration indicator to enable quantitative reporting in future State of the Park reports.
- 3. Help facilitate the First Nations' process of updating past traditional knowledge projects and identify where traditional knowledge is important for making management decisions.
- 4. Explore various approaches for incorporating traditional knowledge into park management, e.g., reviewing current catch and release fishing policy.

# Objective 3:

Cultural resources within KNP&R are maintained, protected, presented and celebrated.

## Targets:

- Complete cultural resource management plan by 2013; then initiate implementation.
- A system is in place for documenting intangible cultural resources by 2013.

## Actions:

- 1. Working with KFN and CAFN, complete and start implementing a cultural resource management plan for the park.
- 2. Strategically carry out cultural resource management activities based on an assessment of risks to known resources and opportunities presented by new discoveries and information.
- 3. Develop a system for documenting intangible cultural resources, e.g., oral history, place names, traditional knowledge of place and the ecosystem.



Dall's sheep. Parks Canada/S. Davidson

# 5.3 NATURE PREVAILS - KEEPING KLUANE HEALTHY

The overall objective of this strategy is to maintain and improve the park's ecological integrity, focusing on the park's forests, and provide opportunities for visitors and others to learn about the park's ecological integrity.

The forested area of the park received the lowest ecosystem rating in the 2008 State of the Park Report, rated as fair and declining. First Nation Elders have also expressed concern: "Elders are concerned about the forest dying from spruce beetles and how quickly water moves through the land, and how this will affect the animals. They do not hear as many birds. Colder winters and fires used to help keep the forest healthy" (State of the Park Report 2008). Several significant threats to the health of the park's forests have been identified and more information is required to fully understand the processes currently affecting the forest ecosystem. Absence of fire, the extensive spruce bark beetle outbreak, and the absence of First Nation people on the land are all clear factors in the deteriorating ecological integrity of this part of the park. Other issues affecting the park's ecological integrity include species at risk and the arrival of non-native species.

The spruce beetle outbreak has led to a changed forest structure with abundant dead trees, both standing and fallen. The large number of dead trees is causing considerable concern about higher potential risks of wildfire. There is a need for a comprehensive fire history study, as well as a need to understand the long-term First Nation use of fire in the Kluane region, in order to more fully understand the role that fire has played in the health of KNP&R's forest ecosystems. This work will allow future completion of a fire management plan to direct fire management activities, planning and partnerships.

KNP&R has made significant advances in understanding its bear populations and in minimizing conflicts between park users and bears. This is the result of past multi-partner research, on-going monitoring, on-going implementation of the bear management plan and related strategies, and continuing efforts to work with biologists to refine our knowledge and further reduce risks to bears and humans. This proactive approach will be continued.

The KNP&R ecological integrity monitoring program is strong in some areas, but further work is needed to provide a comprehensive ecological integrity monitoring program that will alert managers to changes in ecological integrity that will lead to management action.

Increasing land use pressures adjacent to KNP&R will require the park to become more involved in planning and assessment processes, including the provision of strategic input to the Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Board.

This strategy will seek to gain a better understanding of the changed forest ecosystem and implement a more representative set of monitoring measures for the park's forests. It will aim to increase understanding and support for the role of First Nation activities in the ecological integrity of the park; improve public understanding of the threats facing the park's forests; deal with species at risk and invasive species; enhance visitor experience opportunities in the park; and offer ways for visitors to engage with park management.

Note: Work related to the Cultural Reintegration ecological integrity indicator is found under Rediscovering Dän Keyi.

# NATURE PREVAILS - KEEPING KLUANE HEALTHY: A 5-YEAR PLAN

# Objective 1:

The ecological integrity of the park's forests is no longer declining and information on forest health is improving.

# Targets:

- Finalize the fire management plan by 2014.
- Improve the estimate of the ecological integrity measure Area Burned Condition Class (a measure used to quantify the departure from historic fire cycles) by the next State of the Park Report in 2013.
- Complete a strategy for addressing the decline of the Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke River moose by the next State of the Park Report in 2013.
- Establish the appropriate number of permanent sample plots to monitor the response of forests to the spruce bark beetle outbreak by 2012.

# Actions - Fire Management:

- 1. Carry out a large-scale disturbance regime study to characterize the role of fire (and other disturbance mechanisms) in forest succession within the park.
- 2. Maintain capacity and relationships to action wildfires in the park in a timely, efficient and safe manner.
- 3. Work with First Nation partners to determine their interests in protecting culturally important artifacts and sites from fire.
- 4. Perform small-scale fuel modifications to address localized, high risk wildfire concerns.

## Actions - Forest Health:

- 1. Develop a strategy with KFN and Government of Yukon to investigate and address the decline in the Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke River moose population.
- 2. Implement a set of stand-level measures to monitor how the forest changes as it responds to the spruce bark beetle outbreak.
- 3. Continue to engage in planning and assessment processes of activities outside the park, which could have an impact on KNP&R.

# NATURE PREVAILS - KEEPING KLUANE HEALTHY: A 5-YEAR PLAN

# Objective 2:

Threats from non-native species are reduced and Species at Risk are actively managed.

# Targets:

- Pilot at least one additional measure (since 2008 State of the Park Report) for monitoring the condition of the Kathleen Lake system by 2013.
- Identify critical habitat for the two park populations of Baikal sedge by 2012.
- The park continues to be elk-free in 2015.
- By 2015, complete species-specific action plans for priority invasive species identified in KNP&R and surrounding areas.
- By 2011, ensure that all research permits issued for research in KNP&R water bodies, and by 2013, other regulated activities related to KNP&R waters, carry conditions to prevent the spread of disease and invasive species between water bodies.
- By 2013 there is a plan in place to address the Kathleen Lake kokanee population decline.

# Actions - Species at Risk:

- I. Implement management actions identified in the proposed Baikal Sedge Recovery Strategy.
- 2. Investigate opportunities to provide for a COSEWIC assessment of the Kathleen Lake kokanee salmon population.
- 3. Continue to research the cause of the decline of the kokanee salmon and pursue a broader examination of the ecological integrity of the Kathleen Lake system using other measures, e.g., lake trout.
- 4. Develop a management strategy to address potential environmental and cultural impacts of wood bison should they expand their range into the park, taking into account the interests of local First Nations, the National Wood Bison Recovery Team and the Yukon Bison Technical Committee.
- 5. Contribute to the assessments of other species being considered for COSEWIC listing.
- 6. Work with partnering governments to increase our knowledge of the Kluane caribou herd.

# Actions - Non-native Species:

- 1. Inventory non-native vegetation species in and near the park, and develop species-specific action plans based on the relative risk associated with the presence of each species.
- 2. Work with the Government of Yukon to determine a strategy to prevent elk from entering the park and/or removing them should their range expand into the park.
- 3. Continue to work with others in the monitoring, and where appropriate, the management of non-native species.

## Actions - Aquatics:

1. Work pro-actively, including through education, to prevent the spread of freshwater fungus and viruses that cause mortality to fish and amphibians.

# NATURE PREVAILS - KEEPING KLUANE HEALTHY: A 5-YEAR PLAN

# Objective 3:

A more complete ecological integrity monitoring program leads to improved reporting in the short- term and improved ecological integrity in the long-term.

## Targets:

- Report on the condition of all indicators by the next State of the Park Report in 2013.
- Develop at least one landscape-level measure of ecological change by the next State of the Park Report in 2013.

## Actions:

- 1. Design monitoring programs for the four indicators where monitoring did not exist in the 2008 State of the Park Report: glaciers; wetlands; freshwater; and cultural reintegration.
- 2. Work with KFN and CAFN to identify traditional knowledge indicators and measures for ecological integrity monitoring.
- 3. Develop a work plan with CAFN and KFN to guide how to incorporate traditional knowledge into the monitoring program.
- 4. Support First Nations wildlife monitoring programs by increasing integration into KNP&R ecological monitoring program.
- 5. Develop measures that are able to report on landscape-level change (e.g., percentage of historic cycle achieved, change in area in all glaciers in the park, change in habitat connectivity).
- 6. Design and implement a more representative set of measures for the forest indicator.

# **Objective 4:**

A variety of audiences (e.g., staff, First Nation partners, local community, visitors) gain a better understanding of the ecological integrity monitoring program and its purpose, key ecological integrity issues facing the park and the role of First Nations related to the ecological integrity of the park.

## Targets:

- An opportunity to volunteer on an ecological integrity monitoring program is offered annually to staff, First Nation partners, local communities, and visitors.
- There is an increase in the number of people who volunteer at the park.

# Actions:

- 1. Undertake activities to increase visitor understanding and support for the role of traditional First Nation activities in the ecological integrity of the park.
- 2. Communicate the purpose and results of ecological integrity monitoring efforts to park audiences in a timely and relevant manner.
- 3. Through the field unit volunteer coordinator, provide opportunities for individuals to be involved in park-based monitoring programs.
- 4. Explore opportunities for schools to learn about ecological monitoring in the park through curriculum-linked school programs and on-site visits.

# **Guiding Principles**

The following ecological integrity principles, adapted from the 1990 and 2004 management plans, will continue to be used to ensure that ecological integrity is maintained in KNP&R. These guidelines are based on conservation biology principles, adaptive management, and the principle of ecological precaution:

- Compatible means park use and management actions will be compatible (sympathetic and complementary) with the wilderness nature of the park, the sensitivity of park resources, and First Nation values and uses;
- Controllable means Parks Canada will ensure that control is maintained with respect to the means, timing, and frequency of a particular park use or management action; and
- Reversible means that Parks Canada will monitor the effects of park use and management, and adjust actions, if required, in order to minimize impacts, or completely remove a use, a facility, or an activity, if necessary.

# 5.4 BUILDING AND WALKING THE TRAIL TOGETHER

The main objective of this strategy is to strengthen cooperative management of the park.

This strategy focuses on continuing to strengthen cooperative management of the park, between Parks Canada, the Kluane National Park Management Board, KFN and CAFN. A greater awareness of the cooperative management of the park is also a priority. This includes more clearly defining the roles and responsibilities of the cooperative management partners, leading to more effective cooperative management. It also includes further relationship building for a common understanding of shared visions and goals, as well as the practical implications of their decisions in park use and management.

A greater general awareness of the cooperative management of the park will also be a priority. Opportunities will be created for park staff, visitors, and the broader community to learn about cooperative management and what it means for the park. As with the Rediscovering Dän Keyi key strategy, in the future it is hoped that this strategy will require less focus as it will have become the natural way the park is managed.

# BUILDING AND WALKING THE TRAIL TOGETHER: A 5-YEAR PLAN

# Objective 1:

*The park is cooperatively managed with KFN, CAFN and the Kluane National Park Management Board in an efficient and effective manner to the satisfaction of all parties.* 

#### Target:

• The park is cooperatively managed with KFN, CAFN and the Kluane National Park Management Board in an efficient and effective manner to the satisfaction of all parties.

#### Actions:

- 1. Clearly define the roles and responsibilities of the park's cooperative managers.
- 2. Review the Cooperative Agreement as a tool to aid cooperative management, and modify or augment if needed.
- 3. Increase awareness of the Kluane National Park Management Board and its work within the broader community.



Outreach school program. Parks Canada/K. Alexander

## 5.5 SIGNIFICANCE BEYOND BOUNDARIES

The main objectives of this strategy are to define an outreach program that recognizes the importance of local communities to the park, to strengthen learning experiences through curriculum linked school programming, and to communicate effectively about park values to non-visiting audiences to inspire and invoke support.

This strategy will extend the park's reach, locally, regionally and nationally through effective and relevant learning opportunities designed to increase understanding and appreciation of KNP&R.

Public outreach education is about communicating important Parks Canada stories and messages to Canadians at home, at leisure, at school and in their communities. It is important in order to build a sense of personal connection to KNP&R and for Parks Canada to reach and be relevant to Canadians whether or not they have an opportunity to visit the park. Through public outreach education, Parks Canada can build a greater understanding and appreciation of KNP&R and also encourage individuals and communities to support and become engaged in its protection and presentation.

This strategy is designed to extend the reach of KNP&R, through popular media, modern technology and outreach programming, to bring current, lively and engaging content into homes, schools and communities so that Canadians can choose to make the park part of their daily lives.

# SIGNIFICANCE BEYOND BOUNDARIES: A 5-YEAR PLAN

# Objective 1:

Outreach audiences are defined and an outreach program is developed and implemented for the park in order to extend the park's reach locally, regionally and nationally.

# Targets:

- Increase the number of students in the Yukon (focussed on students in Haines Junction, Burwash, Destruction Bay, and Whitehorse) who have contact with Kluane school programming either in the classroom, on-site, or through the internet.
- One school program is developed by 2015 that will be delivered at Kathleen Lake.
- One youth program is developed by 2015 that will be delivered at the CAFN Cultural Centre.
- The number of school visits to the park increases by 2015.
- The number of visits to the website increases.

## Actions:

- 1. Develop an outreach education plan that will provide a solid framework for identifying, understanding and engaging current and potential audiences.
- 2. Continue working closely with St. Elias School to support and promote learning about the park that meets their needs.
- 3. Take park messages to broader school audiences within the Yukon and to Canadians via the Parks Canada Teachers' Resource Centre.
- 4. The Grade 4 Environmental Stewardship Certificate Program, which includes information about KNP&R ecosystems, will be offered at St. Elias School, Kluane Lake School and other Yukon schools.
- 5. Develop youth programming for Yukon students to be delivered at the park visitor centres.
- 6. Promote the park visitor centres as a useful resource for teachers.
- 7. Develop a school offer for Yukon students to be delivered at Kathleen Lake.
- 8. Promote Kathleen Lake as a useful resource for teachers and youth groups (e.g., Scouts).
- 9. Continually refresh and renew content for an enhanced web presence that provides learning, sharing and experiential opportunities for Canadians and others so that they can experience the excitement of virtually being in KNP&R.

# SIGNIFICANCE BEYOND BOUNDARIES: A 5-YEAR PLAN

# Objective 2:

Ongoing engagement with local audiences is promoted, creating a lifelong connection to the park.

# Targets:

- One outreach program is developed by 2015 that targets new Canadians residing in the Yukon.
- There is increased participation in park programs by local residents.
- Increase visitation by Yukon residents to the park over the next five years.
- Increase the number of local residents who visit the CAFN Cultural Centre (compared to the KNP&R Visitor Centre) over the next five years.
- Increase the number of special events targeting local residents over the next five years.
- 10% increase in the number of Yukon residents who are familiar with Kluane (using the 2009 Telephone Survey of Yukon Residents as a baseline), and develop a baseline estimate for the percentage of Yukon residents who learned something about the park from their use of the interpretive facilities and services for the area.

# Actions:

- 1. Develop new methods for engaging more local residents in park programs based on their interests and motivations.
- 2. Help ensure that the CAFN Cultural Centre becomes a centrepiece for the Haines Junction community, not only for visitors but also First Nation citizens and local residents.
- 3. Deliver a variety of special events out of the CAFN Cultural Centre that engage local residents through learning and sharing in an integrated experience with CAFN and the Government of Yukon.
- 4. Work to ensure that Kathleen Lake campground is an important recreational area for local residents.
- 5. Deliver a variety of special events at various locations in the park such as Kathleen Lake and Tachal Dhal that engage local residents, e.g., family fun day at Kathleen Lake, community barbeque, annual scavenger hunt, etc.
- 6. Link KNP&R messages and stories to national urban outreach strategies and explore opportunities to reach new Canadians residing in the Yukon.

# 6.0 Area Management Approach



Moose and calf. Parks Canada/B. Bakker

While key strategies focus on management approaches that affect the park as a whole, area management approaches focus on approaches for specific geographic areas of the park (Map 3). The seven geographic areas described in the 1990 and 2004 park management plans will continue to be used to define the recreational experiences provided in each area of the park and provide visitor experience and ecological objectives for each area. Some areas are managed for higher levels of multiple-use activities e.g., Kathleen Lake, while others are managed for high-end wilderness experiences e.g., the Alsêxh/Alsek River corridor, and others offer something in-between, e.g., the front country highway corridor and the Ä'äy Chừ Valley.

# 6.1 MUSH AND BATES LAKES/ALDER CREEK VALLEY AND COTTONWOOD TRAIL

The Mush/Bates lakes corridor provides opportunities for a variety of experiences, including multi-day hiking and horseback trips along the Cottonwood Trail, short day and overnight trips to Shorty Creek, or multi-day trips to Nàłùdäy Dhāl/Goatherd Mountain. An old mining road provides limited access for boating, fishing and hiking trips into the area. This area is important to local residents, and it is anticipated that as First Nations reconnect with their traditional harvest areas subsistence activity may increase. Once visitors go beyond the motorized access points, the Mush/Bates lakes corridor wilderness experience is one of self-reliance and self-discovery.

Relative to overall overnight use in the park, the Mush/Bates lakes area receives a fairly low amount of use. In contrast, the Cottonwood Trail is the fourth most popular trail in the park, receiving an average of 96 hikers per year.

One or two commercial operators continue to lead guided hiking, fishing and boating trips into the Mush/Bates lakes area. There is no longer a horseback operator running trips on the Cottonwood, but one to four operators are running hiking trips over the Cottonwood in any given year. The odd commercial dog sled trip has been made along the Mush/Bates road and Cottonwood Trail.

#### **Objectives:**

#### Visitor Experience

- Provide a gradient of experiences within the Mush/Bates corridor characterized by motorized and non-motorized access to Mush Lake, motorized and non-motorized recreational activities on Mush Lake, and non-motorized activities on Bates Lake.
- Minimize the potential for conflict between subsistence and recreational activities in the Mush and Bates Lakes/Alder Creek Valley area.
- Provide a wilderness experience on the Cottonwood Trail characterized by: non-motorized activities; relatively few encounters with other parties; low campsite impacts; few facilities; and opportunities for wildlife viewing.

#### Ecological

- Protect and maintain the Alder Creek and Fraser Fen moose habitat and Alder Creek moose calving areas.
- Protect and maintain the critical mountain goat habitat and resident mountain goat population on Nàłùdäy Dhāl/Goatherd Mountain.

#### Action:

 Define and establish the appropriate level of maintenance of the Mush/Bates Lake Road as part of the park trail review.

#### **Guiding Principles:**

- Continue to permit up to 30 hp motors on Mush Lake, and limit boat motors to fourstroke engines only (or equivalent) by 2012.
- Continue to permit only non-motorized use by visitors on Bates Lake.



Yukon Government/R. Armour

#### 6.2 KATHLEEN LAKE

Kathleen Lake is one of Kluane NP&R's central attractions, offering visitors a diverse range of recreational and educational opportunities to explore and engage in the park. Located in a beautiful and dramatic setting, it is the park's focal point for highway-accessible camping and water-based recreation, with a scenic and well-maintained campground, day use facilities, and access to overnight hiking trails providing an area of compatible multi-use and family oriented recreation. The King's Throne is one of the park's most popular day-hikes, and the Kokanee shoreline trail is a popular lakeshore stroll. A local First Nation business, Kruda Ché, offers cultural boat tours on Kathleen Lake, and several commercial operators also provide guided day use hiking, fishing, kayaking and boating services at Kathleen Lake. The area has excellent potential for connecting with a variety of audiences, including park visitors, local community residents, and local and regional school and youth groups, and will be used as a site to promote increased visitation. The visitor experience at Kathleen Lake is characterized by relatively high use levels, including picnicking, boating, fishing, beach activities, vehicle based camping, and day and overnight hiking.

This is an area where a variety of motorized and non-motorized experiences can be offered with supporting facilities, including signage, a day use shelter, dock, hardened trails, and semi-serviced campsites, in ways that have minimum impact on the park environment. Parks Canada will manage for these multi-recreational experiences while ensuring protection of the land-based and aquatic ecosystems, with particular attention paid to the declining population of spawning kokanee salmon.

Kathleen Lake also provides an ideal opportunity to engage stakeholders, e.g., local community members and tourism operators, in the protection and presentation of KNP&R. It offers a community gathering place to engage local residents through participation in special events such as annual pond hockey tournaments, community barbecues, and family activities e.g., weddings and reunions; and it is an inviting focal point for more active promotion of the outstanding visitor experience opportunities that exist beyond Kathleen Lake. Because of its accessible location and facilities such as the day use shelter, picnic tables, campsites, and outhouses, this area also offers an excellent site for educational activities for school and youth groups. During the life of this management plan, Kathleen Lake will be promoted as an area for greater use by local residents, community and special events, and school programs. As included in Experiencing Kluane - A Personal Journey (p.24), the park will explore options for having alternate roofed accommodation, e.g., commercially-provided hard-sided trailers, available for rent at Kathleen Lake campground.

## Objectives

## Visitor Experience

- Provide a variety of motorized and nonmotorized experiences with support facilities for people of all ages and abilities.
- Kathleen Lake campground and day use facilities are actively used and important to the Haines Junction community. Local residents and visitors use the site as a gathering place for community and special events.
- Regional school groups use the area for recreational and educational activities.
- Increased visitation to Kathleen Lake by Yukon residents.

## Ecological

- Protect and maintain the critical grizzly habitat around Sockeye Lake.
- Continue working collaboratively with the Government of Yukon to maintain and protect the Kathleen Lake aquatic ecosystem.
- Protect and maintain the Sockeye Lake and River Zone I Area.
- Protect and maintain the critical winter habitat for moose around Sockeye Lake and Cottonwood Creek.

# Actions:

- Expand activities at Kathleen Lake, making it more of a focus for community and special events and school group activities.
- Explore options, and if feasible and with sufficient demand, implement alternate roofed accommodation at Kathleen Lake campground (see Experiencing Kluane – A Personal Journey for more details).

# 6.3 ALSÊXH/ALSEK -TITL'ÀT MẪN TÁGÀ/ DEZADEASH RIVER VALLEYS

The Alsêxh/Alsek -Titl'àt Man Tágà/Dezadeash river valleys offer three distinct wilderness experiences and features not accessible elsewhere in the park. Recognizing the exceptional values of this area, the Alsêxh/Alsek River was designated a Canadian Heritage River in 1986. The international rafting community also considers the Alsêxh/Alsek River one of the world's best rivers to raft, and a recent National Geographic book "Journeys of a Lifetime" listed the Alsêxh/Alsek and Tatshenshini rivers as Number One of the top ten raft trips in the world. The white water of the rivers, the surrounding glaciers, icebergs, wildlife, and the spectacular wilderness experience of northern mountains and tundra all combine to create an outstanding experience even for the most experienced wilderness rafters. For the last 30 years, the Alsêxh/Alsek and Tatshenshini rivers have also been elected as the "Guides' Choice for North America's Wildest River."

The Alsêxh/Alsek River provides water-based trips of different lengths to Lowell Lake, Turnback Canyon or Dry Bay. These trips offer an exceptionally high quality wilderness experience characterized by flat to class IV+ waters, opportunities for solitude, natural quiet and self reliance, pristine campsites and opportunities to see moose, grizzly bear, sheep, mountain goats, glaciers and icebergs. The Alsêxh/Alsek River experience is one of self-discovery since no trails or facilities exist along these routes. Visitors can enjoy these recreational experiences on their own or through one of several commercial rafting companies. The Titl'àt Man Tágà/Dezadeash River between the Haines Junction bridge and Serpentine Creek offers a flatwater river experience through wetland habitats, important for shorebirds, waterfowl, moose and grizzly bear. The Alsek Road offers four wheel drive vehicle, mountain bike and hiking opportunities along the old mining road from the Alaska Highway through the Kluane Game Sanctuary, into the park. A variety of day use and overnight trips take place along the upper Alsek Valley above the Kaskawulsh River. Visitor use in the Alsêxh/ Alsek -Titl'àt Man Tágà/Dezadeash river valleys consists primarily of rafters and hikers, and currently averages 267 visitors per year.

Over the last ten years, visitor numbers have dropped in this area of the park, in similar proportion to other areas of visitor use. The Alsek and Kaskawulsh valleys continue to be frequently used as aircraft access corridors to the park's Icefields.

## Objectives

#### Visitor Experience

- Manage the Alsêxh/Alsek River to maintain its existing high-quality wilderness experience characterized by opportunities for solitude, natural quiet, self-reliance, pristine campsites, no support facilities and opportunities to see moose, grizzly bears, sheep, mountain goats, glaciers and icebergs. Maximizing recreational use is not a management objective for the Alsêxh/Alsek -Titl'àt Mān Tágà/Dezadeash river corridor.
- Manage and provide for a variety of day and overnight recreational opportunities accessed by the Alsek Road.
- Manage the Alsêxh/Alsek River watershed in conjunction with the Tatshenshini-Alsek

Management Board, U.S. National Parks Service and the Government of Yukon.

 Provide opportunities for a high quality day use wilderness experience along the Titl'àt Mān Tágà/Dezadeash River between the Haines Junction bridge and Serpentine Creek characterized by few encounters with other parties, pristine wetland habitats, and healthy shorebird, waterfowl, moose and grizzly bear populations.

## Ecological

- Protect and maintain the Alsek/Kaskawulsh Grizzly Bear Zone I Area and its associated denning areas, critical habitats, security areas and movement corridors.
- Protect and maintain critical mountain goat habitats and resident goat populations on Nàłùdäy Dhāl/Goatherd Mountain and the Alsek Ranges.
- Protect and maintain the Titl'àt Mān Tágà/ Dezadeash River wetland and shrub dominated habitats as nesting and rearing areas for shorebirds and waterfowl, particularly ducks and trumpeter swans, and as feeding areas for moose and grizzly bears.
- Protect and maintain the wildlife and avian movement corridors between the Alsêxh/ Alsek River Valley and Shakwak Trench through Alsek Pass.

## Action:

 From direction in the CAFN Final Agreement, subject to submission of a business proposal, a Champagne and Aishihik First Nations business will be permitted to offer a guided two-way motor supported float trip service on the Titl'àt Män Tágà/Dezadeash River between Haines Junction and Serpentine Creek.

# **Guiding Principles:**

- Continue to manage the Alsêxh/Alsek River as a premier wilderness rafting experience by allocating no more than 15 departures a month (departures scheduled about every second day) to private or commercial river runners.
- Continue to revise and implement management strategies, including the Alsêxh/

Alsek River Management Guidelines, which protect the natural, cultural and recreational values of the Alsêxh/Alsek River.



Parks Canada/F. Mueller

# 6.4 Ä'ą̈́Y CHÙ VALLEY

The Ä'äy Chừ Valley is KNP&R's primary backpacking and day use area in the northern end of the park. It offers a variety of stunning one to four day wilderness recreational hiking opportunities, allowing visitors to see and experience the park's alpine tundra, wildlife, and a major valley glacier. During the June through August visitor season, the Ä'äy Chừ Valley is used by numerous hikers and campers, and aircraft over-flights are common. Because of this, the opportunity to experience solitude and natural quiet is lower than other areas of the park, but campsite impacts and the presence of park staff, signs and facilities in the Ä'äy Chừ Valley backcountry remain relatively low.

The Ä'äy Chừ Valley receives an average of 315 overnight hikers a year. The most popular overnight hikes in the area are A'äy Chừ West and Ä'äy Chừ East. Trail counters have revealed the Ä'äy Chừ Valley area (excluding Tachàl Dhāl trail) receives an estimated average of more than 1,340 day users a year. The most popular day hikes in the valley are the Tachäl Creek mining road, Soldier's Summit, and Bullion Creek. In terms of hiker numbers and parties, the overall use of all trails and routes in Ä'äy Chừ Valley continues to receive the highest level of recreation use in the park. One or two operators guide overnight hiking trips, and seven or eight companies continue to lead day trips in the Ä'äy Chừ Valley/ Tachầl Dhāl area.

Portions of the Ä'äy Chừ Valley may be closed during the summer. These proactive closures are

usually due to the presence of grizzly bear family groups, not problem bear situations. Bear/hiker interaction and risk assessment research indicate that Ä'äy Chừ remains an area requiring ongoing management attention because the area contains high quality habitat for bears and has a variety of travel and visibility concerns. One of the major findings of the 2005 study "Grizzly Bear/Human Interactions in the Ä'äy Chừ Valley and Sheep Bullion Plateau" was that the number of reported bear-human interactions in the Ä'äy Chừ Valley study area has dropped dramatically. The major reason for the decline is attributed to the 1998 closure of the Tachäl-Bullion Plateau to camping. However, many other factors likely contribute to this decline, including decreased visitor use in recent years, and changes in the bear population due to natural factors and human activity in the greater ecosystem, which extends far beyond the park borders (MacDougall 2005).

# Objectives

#### Visitor Experience

- The Ä'äy Chừ Valley recreational wilderness experience is characterized by modest encounter levels with other parties and campsite and trail conditions with relatively low impact levels.
- Support facilities such as trails and signage will be provided to concentrate impacts and/ or to reduce the probability of bear/human interactions, and provide opportunities to see and experience alpine vegetation, a valley glacier, and wildlife.
- Compatible with the preceding visitor experience objectives, provide easier access by motorboat for wildlife and glacier viewing experiences and an opportunity to learn more about First Nation culture and history.

#### Ecological

- Protect and maintain the Bullion Creek Dunes, Ä'äy Chừ Delta, and Tachàl Dhāl Loess Zone I areas.
- Protect and maintain the Tachàl-Bullion Plateau critical grizzly bear habitat, family group security areas, and associated movement corridors to and from this area.
- Protect and maintain the critical wildlife habitat, breeding areas and associated

movement corridors for Dall's sheep, mountain goat, golden eagles and grizzly bears in the Ä'äy Chừ Valley.

# Action:

 Consider a commercial motorboat tour up Ä'äy Chừ from a CAFN or KFN business (see Experiencing Kluane – A Personal Journey for more details).

## **Guiding Principles:**

• Use a variety of management tools as needed to ensure bear management and high quality visitor experience opportunities e.g., use of bear proof canisters, periodic trail closures.

# 6.5 SHẤR NDỦ CHÙ/DUKE - DÀN ZHẦR CHÙ/DONJEK RIVER VALLEYS

The Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke - Dän Zhùr Chù/ Donjek river valleys area provides a high quality wilderness hiking experience in the north end of the park. This recreational experience is characterized by pristine undeveloped campsites, outstanding opportunities for solitude, natural quiet and self-reliance, wildlife and glacier viewing, and few if any park facilities. Because it is remote, recreational access is sometimes provided by aircraft. Work from the 2004 management plan is continuing in order to designate an aircraft landing site suitable for wheeled aircraft in the vicinity of Bighorn Lake.

The Shấr Ndü/Duke, Dän Zhùr/Donjek, Burwash Uplands and other northern areas of KNP&R receive an average of 133 hikers per year. Averaging 20 parties a year, the Dän Zhùr/ Donjek route accounts for more than half of the use in the north end of the park. Three to four commercial operators continue to run guided backcountry trips into the Shấr Ndü/Duke, Dän Zhùr/Donjek and Burwash Uplands areas of the park.

#### Objectives

#### Visitor Experience

 Manage and protect the outstanding recreational wilderness experience inherent in the Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke - Dän Zhùr Chù/ Donjek rivers area as characterized by pristine undeveloped campsites, outstanding opportunities for solitude and natural quiet, wildlife and glacier viewing and few if any park facilities.

 Compatible with the preceding visitor experience objective, provide easier access by motorboat for wildlife and glacier viewing experiences and an opportunity to learn more about First Nation culture and history.

### Ecological

- Protect and maintain the critical grizzly bear habitat and associated movement corridors in the Dän Zhùr Chù/Donjek River Valley to Alaska Highway area.
- Protect and maintain the critical Dall's sheep habitat and associated movement corridors in the Mt. Hoge, Dän Zhùr/Donjek, Steele Creek and Burwash Uplands areas.
- Protect and maintain the critical moose and golden eagle habitats and associated movement corridors in the Upper Shắr Ndü/ Duke, Dän Zhùr/Donjek, and Burwash Uplands areas.
- Protect and maintain the assemblage of rare plant and animal communities associated with the Steele Creek Alpine, Mt. Hoge/Dän Zhùr/Donjek Valley and Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke River Headwaters Zone I areas.

## **Key Actions**

- Continue to investigate, and if possible, designate an alternative wheeled landing site in the immediate vicinity of Bighorn Lake.
- Consider options for a commercial motorboat tour up the Dän Zhùr Chù/Donjek River by a KFN business (see key strategy Experiencing Kluane – A Personal Journey for more details).

# 6.6 THE ICEFIELDS

The Icefields in the heart of the park offers world-class mountaineering and ski-touring opportunities in a pristine wilderness setting that provides opportunities for solitude, natural quiet, personal challenge and self-discovery. Wilderness character remains an important part of the current mountaineering experience. The



Mountainerring in the Icefields. Parks Canada

2002 Kluane Wilderness Study found that almost 30% of the mountaineering respondents had considered climbing Denali in Alaska but had ultimately chosen KNP&R because Denali was too crowded.

Icefields aircraft over-flights enable many day users to experience the Icefields and to see Canada's highest mountains and the network of massive valley-bound glaciers. Icefield Discovery, a commercial temporary tent camp has been providing visitors an Icefields-based day and/or overnight wilderness experience since June 2003. Access to the tent camp continues to be challenged by weather, and visitation numbers remain relatively low. In recent years the owners of the tent camp have focused their marketing efforts towards supporting university level glaciology field camps and/or studies and less weather-dependent overnight groups.

The Icefields area continues to receive some of the highest levels of overnight use in the park. Over the last ten years, mountaineering use has averaged 101 people and 2611 person days a year. Mountaineering still ranks number one as the activity accounting for the highest number of person days spent in the park each year, since these trips last longer than most others i.e., an average of 19 days per person per trip for icefield mountaineers as compared to an average of 5 days per person per trip for backcountry hikers and rafters. One to three mountaineering trips a year continue to be led by Association of Canadian Mountain Guides operators. A local aircraft operator estimates that over 1,000 people a year receive an Icefields experience through aircraft over-flights. During the main visitor season they can average as many as ten flights a day into the Icefields.

#### Objectives

#### Visitor Experience

- Enhance opportunities for a 'first-hand' day use glacier viewing wilderness experience i.e., on the Dusty Glacier or at the Icefield Discovery Camp, characterized by solitude, natural quiet and little or no sign of human use.
- Provide a variety of Icefields-based mountaineering and ski touring wilderness experiences characterized by opportunities for solitude, natural quiet, intense physical challenge, self-reliance/self-rescue and limited signs of human use.

## Ecological

- To protect and maintain the unique plant and animal communities associated with the nunataks in the Icefields, and in particular the Logan Nunatak Zone I Area.
- To protect and maintain the critical habitats, security areas, wildlife and wildlife movement corridors in the greenbelt valleys used for aircraft access to the Icefields.

## **Key Actions**

- KNP&R will continue to work with aircraft operators to identify and designate one or two multiple-operator day-use landing sites in the Icefields, on ice.
- One additional seasonal tent camp will be permitted in the Icefields subject to submission and approval of a business plan proposal and environmental assessment.

# 6.7 HIGHWAY CORRIDOR

The highway corridor through the Kluane Region bordering KNP&R is one of the most scenic vehicle-based experiences in the Yukon. The highway corridor is serviced by a variety of highway and community-based visitor services and facilities and commercial, Government of Yukon and Parks Canada campgrounds. The experience is characterized by scenery and wildlife viewing, highway pull-offs and interpretive panels, visitor reception centres and natural, historical and cultural attractions. Highway travellers can learn more about KNP&R and the surrounding region at the park's two visitor centres, roadside exhibits or on one of several short self-guided trails along the highway.

Highway travellers make up a large majority of the park's potential audiences. These include independent visitors travelling by RV or other private vehicle, and visitors travelling with organized bus tours. Many of these visitors experience only vehicle-based sightseeing at KNP&R, and possibly a stop at a park visitor centre. Unlike backcountry visitors who usually plan their outdoor park experience, frontcountry visitors are more likely to be passing through to other destinations and only have a short time to learn about the park. It is important to find innovative ways to appeal to this large audience. Other opportunities to engage visitors in the highway corridor include the Kathleen Lake campground and day use facility, and short hiking trails along the highway corridor.

Vehicle and trail counters installed along most of the park's more popular day use trails and access roads along the highway corridor indicate that annual day use is 10,500+ people a year. The more popular trails or road access points along the highway corridor include Rock Glacier with a day use estimate of over 2,650 people per year; Ä'äy Chừ West Road with an average of more than 1,292 vehicles per season; the Titl'àt Man Tágà/Dezadeash River Trail with more than 1,000 hikers per season; the Auriol Trail at over 780 hikers a season; and the St. Elias Trail with over 300 people per year during the peak season. The St. Elias and Auriol trails also provide access to two short overnight trip opportunities. The national trend towards shorter trips in recent years is demonstrated on both the Auriol and St. Elias trails. Their average use over the last five years is higher than the last ten year average.

Currently there is a lack of directional and promotional signage for KNP&R, leaving gaps in the visitors' sense of welcome, awareness of park boundaries, and understanding of park opportunities. A major project to replace all highway trailhead orientation and interpretive signs is almost complete. The newly developed panels contain updated natural and cultural history information, and increased information about First Nations place names and traditional use of the area. Along with physical infrastructure to support the visitor experience, new media and technologies e.g., podcasts and CD recordings, will be investigated for opportunities to enhance the visitor experience. Using technology that visitors can access while inside their vehicles would allow the communication of important park messages while encouraging travellers to stop at key locations along the highway.

Increasing service to the front-country highway travel market will also be accomplished by offering a broader mix of products and services, packaging these products and services, and then delivering consistent marketing campaigns. KNP&R will continue to work with CAFN, KFN, and Government of Yukon to assess the needs of highway travellers in the region and determine ways to enrich and enhance their visitor experience opportunities.

#### Objectives

#### Visitor Experience

- To provide highway corridor travellers with information that makes them aware of the visitor opportunities in the park.
- To ensure that highway drivers are aware they are passing beside KNP&R and have a pleasurable and educational experience.

## Action:

- Assess the possibility of increasing frontcountry hiking opportunities as part of the comprehensive park trail review (see Experiencing Kluane – A Personal Journey for more details).
- Continue to implement the KNP&R portion of the Yukon Field Unit Sign Plan for highway and directional signage.
- Investigate the use of new technologies to engage highway travellers.

# 7.0 Partnership and Public Engagement



Visitor experience opportunities workshop. Parks Canada/N. Pritchett

The KFN, CAFN, and Kluane National Park Management Board are partners in the cooperative management of KNP&R. The central importance of Parks Canada's relationships with these partners is described in key strategy four, Building and Walking the Trail Together. Work will also continue to engage the White River First Nation.

KNP&R also works with a wide variety of international, national and regional partners to engage others in the protection and presentation of KNP&R. Important working relationships include the Government of Yukon, Tourism Industry Association, Wilderness Tourism Association of the Yukon, the Village of Haines Junction, St. Elias School, Environment Canada, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, the U.S. National Park Service, British Columbia Parks, Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Board, Yukon College, and researchers from several universities.

Public engagement is also essential to Parks Canada's program delivery and continued relevance. It includes the support and involvement of stakeholders and partners. Stakeholder engagement activities ensure that Canadians' needs and priorities are clearly expressed to Parks Canada and that these interests inform and influence Parks Canada's actions and direction.

A range of public consultation activities undertaken through this management plan review process also drew organizations and individuals to express interest in continued public involvement during plan implementation. Opportunities for public involvement during plan implementation are outlined elsewhere in the management plan, e.g., during trail review and prior to any zoning changes. Parks Canada will also report annually on the implementation of the management plan. This may take the form of a newsletter, meeting or other format.

# 8.º Zoning and Wilderness Declaration

## 8.1 PARK ZONING SYSTEM

The national park zoning system classifies areas within a park according to their need for protection, with consideration given to areas suitable for visitor activities. The system's five categories are described in Parks Canada's Guiding Principles and Operational Policies. KNP&R contains Zone I to Zone IV areas. The zoning system does not preclude resource harvesting activities and subsistence use by the CAFN and the KFN. The No Harvest Zones related to resource harvest are discussed in section 3.3, First Nation Presence.

Certain new visitor experience opportunities included in this plan review may require a zoning review and amendment to go forward e.g., increased commercial motorboat access. Any proposed zoning change would include public consultation.

## Zone I - Special Preservation (14% of the park)

Zone I lands deserve special preservation because they contain or support unique, threatened or endangered natural or cultural features, or are among the best examples of the features that represent a natural region. Preservation is the key consideration. Motorized access is not permitted. This plan identifies 13 Zone I areas that were also in the 2004 park management plan (Map 4).

# Zone I areas:

- Logan Nunatak
- Steele Creek Alpine
- Mt. Hoge/ Dän Zh
  ür Ch
  ù/Donjek River Valleys
- Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke River Headwaters
- Bullion Creek Dunes
- Tachäl Dhäl
- Ä'äy Chừ Delta

- Alsek/Kaskawulsh Grizzly Bear Protection Area
- Nàłùdäy Dhāl/Goatherd Mountain
- Lower Alsêxh/Alsek River
- Sockeye Lake and River
- Fraser Creek Fen
- Airdrop Lake/Hoodoo Mountain Archaeological Sites (not shown on Map 4)

Descriptions of the Zone I areas are found in Appendix B.

## Zone II - Wilderness (85% of the park)

Zone II contains extensive areas that are good representations of a natural region and are conserved in a wilderness state. The perpetuation of ecosystems with minimal human interference is the key consideration. Zone II areas offer opportunities for visitors to experience firsthand the park's ecosystems and require few, if any, rudimentary services and facilities. In much of Zone II, visitors have the opportunity to experience remoteness and solitude. Motorized access is not permitted except for strictly controlled air access in remote areas.

During the winter months, the Cottonwood Trail and the Ä'äy Chừ Valley are temporal Zone III. The one to two annual park-sanctioned snowmobile trips targeted to the region's residents may occur in these areas. This is the only motorized activity permitted in these areas. These areas will not be declared wilderness (see below).

## Zone III - Natural Environment (<1% of the park)

In Zone III areas, visitors can discover the park's natural and cultural heritage through recreational activities that require a few rustic services and facilities. Only controlled access by private vehicle will be permitted (road closures as required and motor restrictions on motorboats). All park access roads are Zone III. These are Mush Lake Access Road, Alsek Access Road, Vulcan Creek Access Road and Sheep Creek Access Road. Controlled road access into KNP&R is facilitated by: seasonal gate closures; short-term or long-term closures related to bears; the requirement for a four-wheel drive vehicle; and the traditional low level of use prior to and since park establishment.

Other Zone III areas are Mush Lake, Mush Lake Day Use Area, Titl'àt Mān Tágà/Dezadeash River from park boundary to Serpentine Creek, Sheep Creek Day Use Area and the abandoned pipeline right-of-way.

## Zone IV - Outdoor Recreation (< 1% of the park)

Zone IV offers a broad range of opportunities for understanding and enjoying the park's heritage and related essential services and facilities. The park's three Zone IV areas are: Kathleen Lake; Kathleen Lake Day Use Area; and Tachàl Dhāl Visitor Centre Area.

## 8.2 WILDERNESS AREA DECLARATION

The *Canada National Parks Act* provides for the designation, by regulation, of wilderness areas of the park. The intent of wilderness declaration is to assist in ensuring a high level of ecological integrity by preventing activities likely to impair wilderness character. Only those developments and activities required for essential services and the protection of park resources will be permitted in declared wilderness areas. Human use in declared wilderness areas will be managed based on ecological and visitor experience objectives and recreational use strategies, in accordance with the *Canada National Parks Act*.

The major difference between park zoning and wilderness declaration is:

• **Park zoning** is a planning tool that, while ecological integrity is the primary consideration, determines areas and sets limits on what and where uses can occur in a park, and that can be amended every five years through the management planning review process;

 Wilderness declaration regulations are a legislative tool that guarantees the public will have the highest degree of assurance that development and uses inconsistent with wilderness character will not occur; it represents a long-term permanent degree of natural state protection of the park. Boundaries of a declared wilderness area can only be changed through the formal process of a regulation amendment, which requires an Order in Council.

Wilderness declaration was proposed for 95% of the park in the 2004 management plan but has not been implemented. Through consultations, the local First Nations stated they have concerns related to economic opportunities if wilderness declaration was implemented as originally envisioned in the 2004 management plan. During the life of this plan, further consultations will be undertaken with CAFN, KFN and White River First Nation, to see if there is an area of the park that can move forward with wilderness declaration.

# Action:

• Conduct work to determine if an area of the park can move forward with wilderness declaration.



Map 4 - Park zoning

# 9.0 Administration and Operations

Currently, KNP&R operations are located in two separate locations: the existing Visitor Centre/ Administration Building in the centre of Haines Junction; and the Resource Conservation, Law Enforcement, and Asset Management Operation Centre, two kilometres west of Haines Junction. The move of the Visitor Centre to the new CAFN Cultural Centre in 2011 will provide an opportunity to review the park administration and operations infrastructure (offices, etc.). The intent, at minimum, is to significantly reduce the number of buildings at the current Operation Centre ("the Farm") or relocate all park operations from the Farm to the existing Visitor Centre/Administration Building in Haines Junction.

#### 9.1 ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP

Environmental stewardship reduces the impact of our daily activities on the environment. The idea of stewardship includes a range of issues from water quality and energy consumption to chemical use and contaminated sites. It also includes a wide variety of activities from recycling and reducing consumption to restoring disturbed landscapes.

Park operations demonstrate sound environmental practices in a number of ways. Tachàl Dhāl Visitor Centre operates off the grid with reused solar panels and wind power; park mountain top radio repeaters, with one exception, are powered by solar energy. Park staff use four-stroke snow machines and outboard motors with similar technology.

Since the last management plan, three underground petroleum tanks at the Farm have been removed and replaced by above-ground double-walled storage tanks in 2006. The one



Sewing canvas and hide moccasins at the Healing Broken Connections Winter Camp 2010 at Tachầi Dhẫi. Parks Canada /K. Alexander



Kathleen Lake Family Fest Day. Parks Canada/K. Moylan

remaining underground petroleum tank will be dealt with during the life of this plan.

One of the reasons for moving to consolidate park operations in the Haines Junction Administration Building is that it will reduce the physical size of park operations and lead to a significant reduction in the park's carbon footprint as the buildings at the Farm are not energy efficient. 

# 10.0 Monitoring

Ecological monitoring has been carried out in various forms inside the park and in the region for decades. National direction from Parks Canada, data analysis and the 2008 State of the Park Report have all recognized the need to refine the existing monitoring program to ensure that it provides appropriate measures for the full range of ecological integrity indicators, including glaciers, wetlands, freshwater, and cultural reintegration. Future work will also include expanding the role of traditional knowledge, developing measures that allow reporting on landscape-level changes, completing the documentation of monitoring protocols, and ensuring data management for each measure (see Appendix C for current and future ecological integrity measures). A review of existing thresholds and the establishment of new thresholds will include planning responses to critical ecological integrity issues when monitoring measures cross thresholds. The recent hiring of monitoring ecologists and a GIS specialist for the field unit will help with this work, as will ongoing discussions with First Nations, partners, and local community members. These efforts should assist with maintaining and improving the park's ecological integrity. The next State of the Park Report will be produced in 2013.

The wilderness character of KNP&R remains an integral part of the full range of visitor experiences in the park. From the visitor's perspective, wilderness character is the sense of being immersed in the natural environment in a way that allows for an authentic personal experience. It includes the opportunity to enjoy peaceful campsites with little sign of other recreational use, opportunities for solitude and natural quiet, and quality experiences on the land. As visitors explore new opportunities and activities in the park, impacts of increasing use will be monitored though recreational



Measuring the water temperature during frog surveys of the Dezadeash wetlands. *C. Cowie* 

use studies, visitor surveys and bear-hiker interaction studies every five to seven years to ensure this aspect of the visitor experience is not diminished. Recreational use studies will be used to determine: what areas of the park are being utilized; the impacts of recreational use; if recreational use patterns are changing; and if wilderness character targets related to pristine campsites, encounters with other groups, campsite density etc., are being met. Surveys will be continued to determine if wilderness character targets related to opportunities for solitude and natural quiet and provision of quality wilderness experiences are being met. Appendix D lists a series of indicators that will be used to regularly monitor the state of the park's wilderness character at a range of locations. Bear/hiker interaction studies will be used to evaluate whether recreational use is contributing to changing patterns in interaction

rates, habituation and/or displacement of bears from their natural habitats etc., and what management actions will be implemented (e.g., campsite closures, designated campsite use), as required.

To complement the monitoring of wilderness character, which focuses on human values and perceptions, the monitoring of ecological integrity indicators integral to that wilderness character will recognize that expanding visitor experience opportunities may be placing previously unseen impacts on the ecosystem. The existence of long-term data sets and KNP&R's on-going ecological integrity monitoring program will provide opportunities to determine the effectiveness of mitigations put in place to ensure the wilderness character and ecological integrity of the park are maintained. Previous work on cumulative impacts of park activities will be re-assessed.

The park's visitor experience and external relations monitoring program will be used to determine the effectiveness of the marketing and promotions, interpretation and visitor services, outreach education and stakeholder engagement offer. Regularly scheduled visitor surveys such as the Visitor Information Program survey will continue to be used to monitor a suite of indicators to determine if national standards are being met. Visitor satisfaction with the park's services and facilities; level of enjoyment; learning opportunities, and meaningful and memorable experiences will all be monitored and evaluated to determine if and/or how visitor experiences are changing over time. The staffing of new external relations and visitor experience positions will enable the park to enhance and expand its existing social science program. The social science monitoring program will provide a better understanding of new and existing visitors and their desired activities and expectations. The visitor experience monitoring and research findings will be used to support decision making.

# 11.0 Strategic Environmental Assessment



Campfire talk. Parks Canada

#### **11.1 INTRODUCTION**

This strategic environmental assessment briefly documents the approach used to identify and assess key issues and critical decision-making factors associated with the 2010 Kluane National Park & Reserve of Canada management plan. Consistent with guidance in The Cabinet Directive on the Environmental Assessment of Policy, Plans and Program Proposals (2004), the focus was to identify strategic considerations at a broad, conceptual level, rather than by assessing individual actions in detail. Parks Canada recognizes strategic environmental assessment is part of a tiered approach to assessing impacts. Detailed impact assessment analysis of individual projects and activities will take place after the management plan has been approved and initiatives are considered for implementation.

# 11.2 ASSESSMENT APPROACH AND FINDINGS

Management planning is a strategic planning exercise which fulfills many key principles of good strategic environmental assessment practice. Both processes use strategic analysis in support of informed decision-making. Both typically define a vision, objectives, targets, and means to follow-up or measure success and then apply these findings to make necessary refinements. This degree of fulfilment of strategic environmental assessment requirements during the planning process is acknowledged and was taken into consideration when deciding on the degree of effort required for the management plan strategic environmental assessment. The 2010 Kluane National Park & Reserve management plan builds upon direction established in the 2004 management plan. A comparison of the 2004 and 2010 management plans was made to identify key differences. A

detailed strategic environmental assessment analysis of each key action was undertaken for the 2004 plan. The findings of that assessment predicted positive outcomes for heritage resources, enhanced relations with First Nations, and increased levels of public understanding and enjoyment. A simpler approach was used to assess the 2010 plan. It was assessed by confirming the impact analysis undertaken in 2004 strategic environmental assessment remains valid, and then focusing on the key differences between the 2004 and 2010 management plans. Please consult the Screening Report for Kluane National Park & Reserve Management Plan (Parks Canada), for full documentation of the strategic environmental assessment approach used to assess the 2004 management plan. The likely impacts and outcomes associated with 2010 management plan key strategies are briefly assessed in the following sections of this strategic environmental assessment.

#### **11.3 FIVE KEY STRATEGIES**

The management plan has five key strategies. They focus on: provision of a wide range of visitor experience opportunities whilst promoting learning and appreciation of the park's heritage resources; fostering enhanced First Nations presence in the park while promoting understanding and stewardship of cultural resources; maintenance and improvement of ecological integrity; strengthening cooperative management of the park; and establishment of an outreach program that effectively engages local communities, students and non-visiting audiences. Strategies presented support Parks Canada's integrated mandate and realisation of the 2010 KNP&R management plan vision.

#### Experiencing Kluane - A Personal Journey

Visitor use studies show reduced backcountry use, and significantly higher day use. Management plan strategies have been designed to respond with a service offer more closely matching these needs. Adequate programs and services are in place for wilderness users (mountaineers, rafters, backpackers). The planned approach is to augment the current offer with new opportunities to attract and serve a more diverse audience. During the life of this management plan, efforts will be focused on meeting the needs of the *Drive Through Awareness* (casual visitors and highway travellers) and *A Step Into the Wild* (day use and short overnight trips) groups. This will be accomplished by:

- Comprehensive review of the trail network with public input. Goal is to enhance frontcountry opportunities while ensuring trail system can be sustainably maintained. Assessment to include consideration of potential expansion of mountain biking trails to meet increased demand. Parks Canada is presently conducting a National Activity Assessment of the four mountain biking disciplines: cross-country; downhill; freeride; and bike parks & dirt jumps. Activity assessment results will be factored into the analysis and decisions for this activity in KNP&R. This will occur after the KNP&R management plan is approved.
  - Change from one-way flight (in or out) to new option for two-way flights (in/out) at two greenbelt sites, Onion Lake and Bighorn Lake, to facilitate day use. The management plan states guidelines will be developed to ensure high quality visitor experience and maintenance of wilderness character and ecological integrity.
- Third party development of roofed accommodation (e.g., cabin, hut, yurt) at Kathleen Lake Campground and possibly other sites in the park.
- One additional seasonal tent camp in the Icefields subject to environmental assessment review and approval.
- Option allowing motorboat assistance both in and out of the Titl'àt M\u00e4n Tág\u00e5/Dezadeash River. The 2004 management plan allowed for one-way commercial motorboat use for boat assisted float trips on Titl'\u00e5t M\u00e4n T\u00e5g\u00e5/ Dezadeash River between Haines Junction and Serpentine Creek, but no trips have occurred to date.
- Consider proposals from First Nation operators for commercial boat trips, including motorboats and jet boats, on the Ä'äy Chù, and Dän Zhùr Chù/Donjek River. Assuming a business proposal is forthcoming, a recreational activities
assessment, and an environmental and socio-economic assessment would be needed before a decision was made to approve this activity. If the activity was approved, a park zoning change would be required before operations began. Public consultation would be part of these processes. Public responses during the management plan review were largely in favour of no expansion of commercial motorboat access based on perceived disturbance to others, wildlife, and wilderness character. This initiative requires more detailed planning, discussion, and analysis prior to decision-making on individual proposals.

The recreational proposals with the greatest potential for cumulative effects are increased air access, and motorboat river tours. Detailed assessment of these types of activities and the individual proposals that may stem from their implementation will take place after the management plan is approved. It will be important to ensure the processes used to assess the impacts and opportunities associated with these activities are soundly conducted. The management plan correctly states that various reviews (e.g., zoning change) will be required before any changes in activities take place and monitoring and survey work will be used to ensure ongoing ecological integrity and wilderness character if the new activities are permitted. While it isn't possible to assess the impacts of these activities in detail now as the proposals are very conceptual, here are some suggested factors to include in the review when it does take place:

- Social science research has revealed that encountering untouched nature, experiencing solitude and viewing wildlife in a natural setting are important underlying motivations for people who visit the park (2008 State of the Park Report).
- State of the Park Report states that ecological integrity will likely be maintained in part because of decreasing backcountry use, fewer human-bear interactions, and the park's wilderness character is likely to persist.
- Although the State of the Park Report rated recreational use as Green (Good), it stated there is a need for continued monitoring and

management of all recreational activities; and precaution related to air access, winter recreation, and trail development. Day use has increased significantly in recent years. Improved measurement and reporting of day use is needed to more accurately determine the impacts of these activities.

- An investigation of potential recreational impacts on wildlife along the Titl'at Man Tágà/Dezadeash River in 1999 (MacHutchon 2000) suggested "the ecosystem could probably accommodate some increase in users, provided this use was similar to existing use in that it was localized and short-term. Some motorized day-use would probably not adversely impact wildlife provided boats were restricted to no more than 10 hp motors, either small electric or 4-stroke engines. Small engines, particularly electric or 4-stroke, are relatively quiet and, therefore, have less impact on wildlife and other river users and they do not produce an excessive wake." The report went on to indicate that the least disturbance to wildlife and other users would be maintained through non-motorized use. MacHutchon recommended if motorized use was allowed, it be for emergency use only to ensure group safety and that engines be no more than 10 hp and either electric or 4-stroke.
- To effectively manage cumulative effects, Parks Canada should manage to meet planning goals (desired outcomes). The onus should be on demonstrating the proposal is not likely to result in cumulative effects on valued components (e.g., ecological integrity, cultural resources and visitor experience) that prevent desired outcomes being maintained or attained.
- Hegmann conducted a cumulative effects assessment for proposals of a similar nature to some of those being considered in the 2010 management plan. Hegmann's work, and the later work by Slocombe et al to update the cumulative effects report, should be reviewed to determine their relevance for the assessment of current proposals. Additional work to supply current information for the assessment of cumulative effects should be undertaken if deemed necessary.

- Impacts of proposed recreational activities need to be assessed against KNP&R management goals. The scope of impact assessment factors needs to be broad and include relevant aspects from all parts of the Parks Canada integrated mandate. This means going beyond impacts to ecological integrity and cultural resources by explicitly assessing effects on visitor experience, and public education and understanding as well. A suggested means of accomplishing this is to:
  - Assess against goals, objectives, and targets from the management plan and other key park management documents;
  - 2. Determine planning processes and requirements available to assess impacts (e.g., strategic environmental assessment; zoning review; recreational activity assessment; project specific impact assessment under *Yukon Environmental and Socio-Economic Assessment Act*);
  - 3. Determine specific information requirements (e.g., cumulative effects assessment update, fill data gaps);
  - 4. Make best possible, defensible decisions based on outputs from various processes and other key relevant factors.

#### Rediscovering Dän Keyi (Our People's Land)

The park management plan contains numerous key actions aimed at reintegrating Southern Tutchone people with the regional ecosystem. Expected outcomes of these actions include an enhanced role for First Nations in management of KNP&R; improved access to traditional territories and rights; increased level of cooperative management between Parks Canada and the First Nations; stronger First Nations' presence in park; and positive social and economic benefits to local First Nations. This work will augment the positive outcomes from the Healing Broken Connections project.

Significant historical and archaeological resources are found within KNP&R. Actions proposed in the management plan are not expected to negatively impact these resources. The approach outlined will significantly increase levels of First Nations' participation in heritage and cultural resource management initiatives at the park. Enhanced working relationships between Park Canada and local First Nations are anticipated. KNP&R contains no Classified Federal Heritage Buildings. The cultural resource management program will benefit from development of a cultural resources management plan. Increased knowledge, and more effective management of resources, is anticipated within the life of this park management plan.

#### Nature Prevails - Keeping Kluane Healthy

This strategy responds to key ecological issues identified through monitoring work and described in the State of the Park Report. Expected outcomes include improved monitoring measures for the condition of park forests; enhanced First Nations' involvement in the management of ecological issues; continued species at risk recovery efforts; an enhanced ecological monitoring program; improved management of invasive non-native species; and increased education and outreach on these topics aimed at improving public understanding of ecological integrity issues. Many of the actions in the plan promote the use of a greater ecosystem management approach. This increases the probability for realising targets and goals. Enhanced levels of understanding, collaboration, and cooperation between neighbouring agencies and individuals involved in land management activities are anticipated. Present high levels of ecological integrity in the park are expected to persist. Provisions to further integrate traditional knowledge into the ecological monitoring program are described.

The impacts of proposals in the Experiencing Kluane strategy can't be fully assessed at this point in time. As mentioned earlier, proposals for new types of activities, or increased levels of activity, will be assessed by various planning processes available to Parks Canada. The methods used will consider the likely impacts upon ecological components of value, and on the ecological integrity of the park as a whole.

#### Building and Walking the Trail Together

This strategy elaborates on how cooperative management of the park will be accomplished. Expected outcomes are enhanced integration of traditional knowledge into park management issues; increased public knowledge and understanding of the relationship of CAFN and KFN with the national park; and strengthened relationships between all cooperative management partners.

#### Significance Beyond Boundaries

This strategy focuses on means to develop and implement an effective outreach and learning program. Targeted groups range from local communities, through to national audiences. Visitors to the park and non-visiting audiences are included. Means of accomplishing these goals are provided such as development of an outreach education plan, as well as development of enhanced interpretive products and services achieved through a new interpretive plan. The goal is to increase visitation, and create greater knowledge, understanding and support for KNP&R and Parks Canada. Increased visitation to KNP&R may result.

#### **11.4 AREA MANAGEMENT**

The plan describes seven area management approaches for KNP&R. These are the same areas used to manage portions of the park since the 1990s (1990 and 2004 management plans). Visitor experience and ecological objectives are clearly described for each area. Area approaches support Parks Canada realising its mandate, goals, and objectives in specific sections of the park.

#### **11.5 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT**

The management planning process offered considerable opportunity for input from the general public, First Nations, and stakeholders. This review process resulted in a strengthened management plan clearly focused on delivery of Parks Canada's integrated mandate. The plan recognizes effective public education is essential to Canadians understanding why the park is of national significance, and the importance of Parks Canada's work as mandated steward of these heritage resources. Increased levels of public knowledge, understanding and support for Parks Canada, and KNP&R, are expected.

#### **11.6 ADMINISTRATION AND OPERATIONS**

Park administration and visitor reception functions have minimal direct impacts on KNP&R. Administration, office, maintenance, staff housing and the main visitor reception facilities are located in the community of Haines Junction a few kilometres outside of the park boundary. The plan proposes relocation of the Visitor Centre to new CAFN Cultural Centre during the life of this plan. The present visitor centre may be retrofitted for staff use, so they can move out of the existing compound complex at the "Farm." Consolidation of park infrastructure would reduce the length and number of vehicle trips between Parks Canada buildings in/near Haines Junction. The increased energy efficiency of the new cultural centre, and the renovated former visitor centre relative to the old compound site (Farm) would help Parks Canada reduce energy consumption and save funds. This would shrink Parks Canada's operational footprint in Haines Junction.

#### 11.7 MONITORING

Monitoring criteria for ecological integrity, interpretation and outreach, and visitor experience (wilderness character) in the 2008 State of the Park Report provides a framework for assessing resource condition and program effectiveness. The 2010 management plan directs that existing monitoring programs will undergo refinement to provide appropriate measures for all ecological integrity indicators. This will give Parks Canada a better foundation on which to measure program success, and to identify worsening resource conditions or emerging issues. A portion of the monitoring effort should focus on situations where new or increased activity levels have the potential for generating cumulative effects. For example, impact monitoring for increased visitor uses (recreational use studies; visitor surveys; bearhiker interaction studies) to measure impacts upon valued components such as visitor experience, bear populations, and wilderness character. Monitoring programs to measure the effectiveness of external relations, interpretation, and marketing activities are described as well.

#### 11.8 CONCLUSIONS

Management plan objectives support the enhanced delivery of Parks Canada's integrated mandate: heritage resource protection; facilitation of visitor experience opportunities; and enhanced public outreach and education. Actions focus on reducing or eliminating stressors acting on heritage resources, or on capitalizing on available opportunities for improved program delivery. Management plan implementation is likely to result in positive effects for the state of heritage resources, levels of visitor satisfaction, and result in stronger working relationships between Parks Canada and local First Nations.

This management plan is largely a confirmation of existing direction from the 2004 management plan. It responds to the need to restructure management plans to meet new guidelines, to focus on integrated mandate delivery, and to address emerging issues identified through monitoring and reporting. Key issues identified in the 2008 State of the Park Report were incorporated into the management planning process. Existing Parks Canada monitoring and reporting mechanisms will be used to measure and report on the degree of success obtaining these goals.

The management planning process is a participatory, iterative, and risk averse approach focused on continuous improvement. This is achieved by periodic review and updates of management plans, monitoring and reporting on progress in attaining goals, development of other supportive plans as needed following approval of the site management plan (e.g., cultural resources management plan), and opportunities for additional assessment of likely impacts from program implementation (e.g., assessment of project proposals under the Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Act subsequent to plan approval). This provides Parks Canada a solid foundation for making informed decisions and realising its goals at KNP&R of Canada. Impact analysis and management decision-making related to management plan implementation should be based in the initial analysis completed during management plan development and this strategic environmental assessment review. More

thorough analysis and impact assessment will be required for some projects and activities once essential details are more clearly defined and proposals come forward. The intent is for this strategic environmental assessment to inform the subsequent review stages of individual undertakings as they are planned and implemented, not for the strategic environmental assessment to be the final stage of impact assessment. This iterative approach provides the necessary checks and balances to minimise the chance of overlooking key issues when managing and making decisions.

Some proposals are very conceptual at this point in time, (e.g., commercial river motorboat trips), and will need to be assessed in greater detail following management plan approval. For instances where little empirical data is available or there is uncertainty about impact prediction accuracy, decision-making should be conservative in keeping with a precautionary approach. In some instances, key data gaps may need to be filled before fully informed decisions can be made. If monitoring results indicate impairment or unrealised opportunities, appropriate changes should be made using an adaptive management approach. In conclusion, the 2010 management plan is expected to achieve the desired results for ecological integrity, cultural resources, visitor experience, and public outreach/education in KNP&R. The management plan is not expected to result in any significant adverse cumulative effects provided additional impact assessment is undertaken for key initiatives, and the necessary monitoring, reporting, and adaptive management approaches are employed.

# Acknowledgements

#### MANAGEMENT PLANNING TEAM:

Kluane First Nation: John Fingland, Anne-Marie Légaré, Shannon Walker.

Champagne and Aishihik First Nations: Paula Banks, Micheal Jim.

Kluane National Park Management Board: Luke Johnson.

Parks Canada: Richard Cherepak, Sean Fitzgerald, Laura Gorecki, Dale Hanson, Anne Landry, Anne Morin, Kate Moylan, Sean Sheardown, Hillarie Zimmermann.

#### CONTENT CONTRIBUTORS AND EDITORS:

Kate Alexander, Catherine Dumouchel, Tom Elliot, Kristi Farrier, Lloyd Freese, Andrée Gaulin, Kim Henkel, Lynda Hutcheson, Nadia Joe, Mary-Jane Johnson, Sophie Lauro, Julie Lefebvre, Ian McDonald, Cathy McFadyen, Joleene Murphy, Steve Oates, Michael Prochazka, Soonya Quon, Annique Sanche, Pippa Shepherd, Christie Spence, Judy Unrau, Diane Wilson, Carmen Wong.

## References

- Banks, P., Joe, N., Sheardown, S., and Walker, S., *Healing Broken Connections:* A summary from 2004 2009, 2009.
- *Champagne and Aishihik First Nations Final Agreement*, between the Champagne and Aishihik First Nations, the Government of Canada, the Government of the Yukon, 1993.
- Dill, S., Jackson S., and Wright, P., Simon Fraser University, Centre for Tourism Policy and Research, School of Resource and Environmental Management, *Kluane Wilderness Study*, 1997.
- Ganhada Management Group, Kluane First Nation and Kluane National Park and Reserve Impacts and Benefits Plan: A Yukon First Nation Tourism Initiative, 2006.
- Government of Yukon, Executive Council Office, Bureau of Statistics, Department of Tourism and Culture, 2004 Yukon Visitor Exit Survey, Kluane Region, 2006.
- Haider, W., and McCormick, S., Simon Fraser University, Centre for Tourism Policy and Research, School of Resource and Environmental Management, *Kluane Wilderness Study 2002*, 2004.
- Hegmann, G. A Cumulative Effects Assessment of Proposed Projects in Kluane National Park and Reserve, 1995.
- *Kluane First Nation Final Agreement*, between the Kluane First Nation, the Government of Canada, and the Government of Yukon, 2003.
- MacDougall, and S., Young, M., Prepared for Parks Canada, *Grizzly Bear* -Human Interactions in the Ä'äy Chir Valley and Sheep Bullion Plateau Kluane National Park and Reserve, 2005.
- MacDougall, S., and Wellwood, D., Prepared for Parks Canada, *Risk Assessments* of Bear-Human Interaction: Ä'äy Chir (Slims River) Valley/Sheep-Bullion Plateau, Cottonwood Trail and Alsek River, Kluane National Park and Reserve, 2007.
- MacHutchon, G., Prepared for Parks Canada, *Potential for Human Impacts on Wildlife Along the Dezadeash River*, Kluane National Park. Yukon, 2000.

Parks Canada Agency, Alsek River Management Guidelines, 2007.

- Parks Canada Agency, Kluane National Park and Reserve Management Plan, 2004.
- Parks Canada Agency, *Parks Canada Agency Corporate Plan 2009/10-2013/14*, 2009.
- Parks Canada Agency, Parks Canada Guide to Management Planning, 2008.
- Parks Canada Agency, Parks Canada Guiding Principles and Operational Policies, 1994.
- Parks Canada Agency, Second Ten-Year Monitoring Report (1997-2008) of the Alsêxh Chù'/Alsek River as a Canadian Heritage River, 2008.
- Parks Canada Agency, *State of the Park Report, Kluane National Park and Reserve of Canada*, 2008.
- Parks Canada Agency, Western and Northern Service Centre, Social Science Unit, *Kluane National Park of Canada, 2006 Visitor Survey*, 2006.
- Parks Canada Agency, Kluane National Park and Reserve internal document, Visitor Experience Assessment Report (What We Said), 2006.
- Parks Canada Agency, Western Canada Service Centre, *Kluane National Park 2000 Entrance Survey*, 2004.
- Parks Canada Agency and Government of Yukon, *Telephone Survey of Yukon Residents*, 2009.
- Slocombe, D.S., Danby R.K., Lenton, J., *Kluane National Park and Reserve Cumulative Effects Assessment Update, Part 2 - Methodology and Assessment.* Prepared for Parks Canada Agency by EDA Environment and Development Associates, 2002.

## Glossary

**Connection to Place:** reflects the relevance and importance of protected heritage places to Canadians. The concept expresses the emotional, intellectual, and spiritual attachment Canadians and visitors feel toward our natural and cultural heritage places. Parks Canada works to foster this sense of attachment through meaningful opportunities for enjoyment and learning provided on-site and through public outreach education. Respecting, understanding, and facilitating the relationship between heritage places and Canadians, including Aboriginal peoples, visitors, partners and stakeholders help promote a shared sense of responsibility for heritage places and engage minds and hearts to support their protection and presentation now and for future generations.

**Cultural Resource:** is a human work, or a place that gives evidence of human activity or has spiritual or cultural meaning, and that has been determined to be of historic value. Cultural resources are distinguished from other resources in a park by virtue of their assigned historic value. This value derives from an association with an aspect or aspects of human history. Parks Canada may apply the term cultural resource to a wide range of resources in its custody, including, but not limited to, cultural landscapes and landscape features, archaeological sites, structures, engineering works, artifacts and associated records.

**Cultural Resource Management:** applies to all activities that affect cultural resources administered by Parks Canada, whether those activities pertain primarily to the care of cultural resources or to the promotion of public understanding, enjoyment and appropriate use of them.

**Cultural Resource Values Statement:** is a strategic document that identifies cultural resources and their values for heritage places located outside national historic sites and managed by the Parks Canada Agency, and sets out objectives to protect cultural resources and present their values.

**Ecological Integrity:** with respect to a national park, is a condition that is determined to be characteristic of its natural region and likely to persist, including abiotic components, the composition and abundance of native species and biological communities, rates of change, and processes. National parks are managed so as to protect ecological integrity, ensuring that all plant and animal species native to the area can continue to live in their natural habitats over their natural ranges, without threats to their long-term survival.

**Public Outreach Education:** is reaching Canadians at home, at leisure, at school and in their communities through effective and relevant learning

opportunities designed to increase understanding and appreciation of the natural and historical heritage of Parks Canada places, and to encourage individuals and communities to support and become engaged in their protection and presentation.

**Species at Risk:** are extirpated, endangered or threatened species or a species of special concern. "Extirpated species" means a wildlife species that no longer exists in the wild in Canada, but exists elsewhere in the wild. "Endangered species" means a wildlife species that is facing imminent extirpation or extinction. "Threatened species" means a wildlife species that is likely to become an endangered species if nothing is done to reverse the factors leading to its extirpation or extinction. "Species of special concern" means a wildlife species that may become a threatened or an endangered species because of a combination of biological characteristics and identified threats.

**Temporal Zoning:** is one of the tools used in Parks Canada's zoning system. It is used in circumstances when seasonal changes can justify a temporal change in the zoning, e.g., Zone II to Zone III during winter, as long as the prevailing management objectives implied by the original zone designation are not compromised.

**Visitor:** is a person entering the park (including the Visitor Centre) for recreational, educational or cultural purposes.

**Visitor Experience:** The sum total of a visitor's personal interaction with heritage places and/or people that awakens their senses, affects their emotions, stimulates their mind and leaves them with a sense of attachment to these places.

## Summary of Planned Actions

Table 2 — Summary of Actions for the 2010 Kluane National Park and Reserve Management Plan

#### KEY STRATEGY 1: EXPERIENCING KLUANE – A PERSONAL JOURNEY

#### Diverse opportunities for visitors appeal to a broader range of visitors and increases visitation.

- Conduct and initiate implementation of a comprehensive review of the park's trail system.
- Develop activities that will engage artists with visitors, locals and Canadians, e.g., Artists in the Park.
- Partner with local First Nations to expand the visitor offer.
- Consider proposals for rustic commercial accommodation in the park.
- Working with others, promote increased winter visitation through awareness and special events, e.g., host at least one winter special event annually.
- Conduct on-going cyclical social science research including Visitor Information Program surveys to gauge visitor needs and interests, satisfaction, and understanding.
- Investigate, and if feasible establish, one or two two-way helicopter landing sites in the greenbelt.

# Visitors, local residents and other Canadians appreciate and understand the park's natural and cultural resources.

- Develop an interpretive plan for the park by 2013; then initiate implementation. The plan will provide direction on key audiences, types of programs, messages, methods for delivery and interpretive products.
- Complete the highway and trailhead sign project.

#### Current markets continue to enjoy the park and new markets are attracted to visit the park.

- Conduct social science research to guide park investment, operational and marketing decisions e.g., to determine level of awareness of KNP&R with Yukoners and Alaskans to help inform promotion activities.
- Identify targeted audiences and strategies for promoting visitor experiences in the park e.g., regional audiences, Yukon families, youth groups, school groups.
- Update and expand information and marketing tools associated with the park e.g., photos, website, Explorer Quotient, social networking.
- Locally implement the national Parks Canada branding program.
- Work with others to promote the park and cross-market other regional attractions.

The park visitor centre in the CAFN Cultural Centre is open and operational and both visitor centres welcome and orient visitors to the park and provide engaging interpretation.

- Complete the design, fabrication and installation of exhibits, A/V production and other necessary components of the park visitor centre at the new CAFN Cultural Centre in Haines Junction.
- Work with CAFN and Yukon government to set up operations and deliver programming in the new CAFN Cultural Centre.
- Work with KFN to further develop Tachal Dhal to provide m ore services to visitors and economic opportunities for the First Nation.

#### KEY STRATEGY 2: REDISCOVERING DÄN KEYI (OUR PEOPLE'S LAND)

Working with CAFN and KFN, fulfill the objectives outlined in their respective final agreements, with respect to KNP&R.

Working with CAFN and KFN:

- Continue to provide economic, training and employment opportunities to CAFN and KFN in the operation and management of the park.
- Work with KFN and CAFN to identify and develop Aboriginal cultural tourism opportunities associated with the park.
- With KFN and CAFN, develop and deliver communications for First Nation citizens, visitors and the general public, outlining First Nation rights within the park.
- Continue to facilitate reintegration of CAFN and KFN citizens into their traditional territory in the park, e.g., finalize the transfer of a patrol cabin to KFN and work with CAFN and KFN to develop new structures for their use.
- Achieve joint identity of the cooperative managers of KNP&R, e.g., signs, uniforms.
- With CAFN and KFN, finalize the KNP&R sign plan, including where Southern Tutchone should be included.
- Continue work to locate and map First Nation camps and heritage trails.
- Recognize and communicate the history of First Nation cabins and camps lost to First Nations when the park was established and work cooperatively towards resolution of this issue.

Working with KFN:

- Establish a significant relationship in the Tachàl Region e.g., park staff present in Burwash Landing.
- Participate in KFN community development planning processes as requested.
- Work with KFN to develop economic opportunities at the Tachal Dhal Visitor Centre.
- Continue to jointly develop interpretive signs around key park sites in the Tachal Region.
- Support the implementation of the Kluane First Nation Impacts and Benefits Plan.

#### Cultural reintegration, an indicator of the park's ecological integrity, is improved.

- Continue the legacy of the Healing Broken Connections that will facilitate the reintegration of CAFN and KFN citizens into their traditional territory within the park e.g., participate in culture camps for First Nation youth and citizens, promote First Nation participation in field work and research in the park.
- Develop measures for the cultural reintegration indicator to enable quantitative reporting in future State of the Park reports.
- Help facilitate the First Nations' process of updating past traditional knowledge projects and identify where traditional knowledge is important for making management decisions.
- Explore various approaches for incorporating traditional knowledge into park management, e.g., reviewing current catch and release fishing policy.

#### Cultural resources within KNP&R are maintained, protected, presented and celebrated.

- Working with KFN and CAFN, complete and start implementing a cultural resource management plan for the park.
- Strategically carry out cultural resource management activities based on an assessment of risks to known resources and opportunities presented by new discoveries and information.
- Develop a system for documenting intangible cultural resources, e.g., oral history, place names, traditional knowledge of place and the ecosystem.

#### KEY STRATEGY 3: NATURE PREVAILS - KEEPING KLUANE HEALTHY

# The ecological integrity of the park's forests is no longer declining and information on forest health is improving.

#### Fire management:

- Carry out a large-scale disturbance regime study to characterize the role of fire (and other disturbance mechanisms) in forest succession within the park.
- Maintain capacity and relationships to action wildfires in the park in a timely, efficient and safe manner.
- Work with First Nation partners to determine their interests in protecting culturally important artifacts and sites from fire.
- · Perform small-scale fuel modifications to address localized, high risk wildfire concerns.

#### Forest health:

- Develop a strategy with KFN and Government of Yukon to investigate and address the decline in the Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke River moose population.
- Implement a set of stand-level measures to monitor how the forest changes as it responds to the spruce bark beetle outbreak.
- Continue to engage in planning and assessment processes of activities outside the park, which could have an impact on KNP&R.

#### Threats from non-native species are reduced and Species at Risk are actively managed.

Species at Risk:

- Implement management actions identified in the proposed Baikal Sedge Recovery Strategy.
- Investigate opportunities to provide for a COSEWIC assessment of the Kathleen Lake kokanee salmon population.
- Continue to research the cause of the decline of the kokanee salmon and pursue a broader examination of the ecological integrity of the Kathleen Lake system using other measures, e.g., lake trout.
- Develop a management strategy to address potential environmental and cultural impacts of wood bison should they expand their range into the park, taking into account the interests of local First Nations, the National Wood Bison Recovery Team and the Yukon Bison Technical Committee.
- Contribute to the assessments of other species being considered for COSEWIC listing.
- Work with partnering governments to increase our knowledge of the Kluane caribou herd.

#### Non-native species:

- Inventory non-native vegetation species in and near the park, and develop species-specific action plans based on the relative risk associated with the presence of each species.
- Work with the Government of Yukon to determine a strategy to prevent elk from entering the park and/or removing them should their range expand into the park.
- Continue to work with others in the monitoring, and where appropriate, the management of non-native species.

# A more complete ecological integrity monitoring program leads to improved reporting in the short term and improved ecological integrity in the long term.

- Design monitoring programs for the four indicators where monitoring did not exist in the 2008 State of the Park Report: glaciers; wetlands; freshwater; and cultural reintegration.
- Work with KFN and CAFN to identify traditional knowledge indicators and measures for ecological integrity monitoring.
- Develop a work plan with CAFN and KFN to guide how to incorporate traditional knowledge into the monitoring program.
- Support First Nations wildlife monitoring programs by increasing integration into KNP&R ecological monitoring program.
- Develop measures that are able to report on landscape-level change (e.g., percentage of historic cycle achieved, change in area in all glaciers in the park, change in habitat connectivity).
- Design and implement a more representative set of measures for the forest indicator.

A variety of audiences (e.g., staff, First Nation partners, local community, visitors) gain a better understanding of the ecological integrity monitoring program and its purpose, key ecological integrity issues facing the park and the role of First Nations related to the ecological integrity of the park.

- Undertake activities to increase visitor understanding and support for the role of traditional First Nation activities in the ecological integrity of the park.
- Communicate the purpose and results of ecological integrity monitoring efforts to park audiences in a timely and relevant manner.
- Through the field unit volunteer coordinator, provide opportunities for individuals to be involved in park-based monitoring programs.
- Explore opportunities for schools to learn about ecological monitoring in the park through curriculum-linked school programs and on-site visits.

#### KEY STRATEGY 4: BUILDING AND WALKING THE TRAIL TOGETHER

The park is cooperatively managed with KFN, CAFN and the Kluane National Park Management Board in an efficient and effective manner to the satisfaction of all parties.

- Clearly define the roles and responsibilities of the park's cooperative managers.
- Review the Cooperative Agreement as a tool to aid cooperative management, and modify or augment if needed.
- Increase awareness of the Kluane National Park Management Board and its work within the broader community.

#### KEY STRATEGY 5: SIGNIFICANCE BEYOND BOUNDARIES

Outreach audiences are defined and an outreach program is developed and implemented for the park in order to extend the park's reach locally, regionally and nationally.

- Develop an outreach education plan that will provide a solid framework for identifying, understanding and engaging current and potential audiences.
- Continue working closely with St. Elias School to support and promote learning about the park that meets their needs.
- Take park messages to broader school audiences within the Yukon and to Canadians via the Parks Canada Teachers' Resource Centre.
- The Grade 4 Environmental Stewardship Certificate Program, which includes information about KNP&R ecosystems, will be offered at St. Elias School, Kluane Lake School and other Yukon schools.
- Develop youth programming for Yukon students to be delivered at the park visitor centres.
- Promote the park visitor centres as a useful resource for teachers.
- Develop a school offer for Yukon students to be delivered at Kathleen Lake.
- Promote Kathleen Lake as a useful resource for teachers and youth groups (e.g., Scouts).
- Continually refresh and renew content for an enhanced web presence that provides learning, sharing and experiential opportunities for Canadians and others so that they can experience the excitement of virtually being in KNP&R.

Ongoing engagement with local audiences is promoted, creating a lifelong connection to the park.

- Develop new methods for engaging more local residents in park programs based on their interests and motivations.
- Help ensure that the CAFN Cultural Centre becomes a centrepiece for the Haines Junction community, not only for visitors but also First Nation citizens and local residents.
- Deliver a variety of special events out of the CAFN Cultural Centre that engage local residents through learning and sharing in an integrated experience with CAFN and the Government of Yukon.
- Work to ensure that Kathleen Lake campground is an important recreational area for local residents.
- Deliver a variety of special events at various locations in the park such as Kathleen Lake and Tachàl Dhāl that engage local residents, e.g., family fun day at Kathleen Lake, community barbeque, annual scavenger hunt, etc.
- Link KNP&R messages and stories to national urban outreach strategies and explore opportunities to reach new Canadians residing in the Yukon.

#### AREA MANAGEMENT APPROACH

#### Mush and Bates Lakes/Alder Creek Valley and Cottonwood Trail

• Define and establish the appropriate level of maintenance of the Mush/Bates Lake Road as part of the park trail review.

#### Kathleen Lake

- Expand activities at Kathleen Lake, making it more of a focus for community and special events and school group activities.
- Explore options, and if feasible and with sufficient demand, implement alternate roofed accommodation at Kathleen Lake campground.

#### Alsêxh/Alsek -Titl'àt Mān Tágà/Dezadeash River Valleys

• From direction in the *CAFN Final Agreement*, subject to submission of a business proposal, a Champagne and Aishihik First Nations business will be permitted to offer a guided twoway motor supported float trip service on the Titl'àt Mān Tágà/Dezadeash River between Haines Junction and Serpentine Creek.

#### Ä'ą́y Chừ Valley

• Consider a commercial motorboat tour up Ä'äy Chừ from a CAFN or KFN business.

#### Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke - Dăn Zhầr Chù/Donjek River Valleys

- Continue to investigate, and if possible, designate an alternative wheeled landing site in the immediate vicinity of Bighorn Lake.
- Consider options for a commercial motorboat tour up the Dän Zhùr Chù/Donjek River by a KFN business.

#### The lcefields

- KNP&R will continue to work with aircraft operators to identify and designate one or two multiple-operator day-use landing sites in the Icefields, on ice.
- One additional seasonal tent camp will be permitted in the Icefields subject to submission and approval of a business plan proposal and environmental assessment.

#### Highway Corridor

- Assess the possibility of increasing front-country hiking opportunities as part of the comprehensive park trail review.
- Continue to implement the KNP&R portion of the Yukon Field Unit Sign Plan for highway and directional signage.
- Investigate the use of new technologies to engage highway travellers.

#### APPENDIX A

# Statement of Significance for Kluane/Wrangell-St. Elias/Glacier Bay/Tatshenshini-Alsek

(Adopted by World Heritage Committee at its 30th Session [Vilnius, 2006])

#### Kluane/Wrangell-St. Elias/Glacier Bay/Tatshenshini-Alsek

The Kluane/Wrangell-St. Elias/Glacier Bay/Tatshenshini-Alsek national parks and protected areas along the boundary of Canada and the United States of America are the largest non-polar icefield in the world and contain examples of some of the world's longest and most spectacular glaciers. Characterized by high mountains, icefields and glaciers, the property transitions from northern interior to coastal biogeoclimatic zones, resulting in high biodiversity with plant and animal communities ranging from marine, coastal forest, montane, sub-alpine and alpine tundra, all in various successional stages. The Tatshenshini and Alsêxh/Alsek river valleys are pivotal because they allow ice-free linkages from coast to interior for plant and animal migration. The parks demonstrate some of the best examples of glaciation and modification of landscape by glacial action in a region still tectonically active, spectacularly beautiful, and where natural processes prevail.

#### Criteria

- (vii) The joint properties encompass the breadth of active tectonic, volcanic, glacial and fluvial natural processes from the ocean to some of the highest peaks in North America. Coastal and marine environments, snow-capped mountains, calving glaciers, deep river canyons, fjord-like inlets and abundant wildlife abound. It is an area of exceptional natural beauty.
- (viii) These tectonically active joint properties feature continuous mountain building and contain outstanding examples of major ongoing geologic and glacial processes. Over 200 glaciers in the ice-covered central plateau combine to form some of the world's largest and longest glaciers, several of which stretch to the sea. The site displays a broad range of glacial processes, including world-class depositional features and classic examples of moraines, hanging valleys, and other geomorphological features.
- (ix) The influence of glaciation at a landscape level has led to a similarly broad range of stages in ecological succession related to the dynamic movements of glaciers. Subtly different glacial environments and landforms have been concentrated within the property by the sharp temperature and precipitation variation between the coast and interior basins. There is a rich variety of terrestrial and coastal/marine environments with complex and intricate mosaics of life at various successional stages from 500 m below sea level to 5000 m above.
- (x) Wildlife species common to Alaska and Northwestern Canada are well represented, some in numbers exceeded nowhere else. The marine components support a great variety of fauna including marine mammals and anadromous fish, the spawning of which is a key ecological component linking the sea to the land through the large river systems. Populations of bears, wolves, caribou, Dall's sheep and mountain goats that are endangered elsewhere are self regulating here. This is one of the few places remaining in the world where ecological processes are governed by natural stresses and the evolutionary changes in a glacial and ecological continuum.

#### APPENDIX B

## Zone I Special Management Areas

#### Logan Nunatak

Nunataks are unique resources in the national park system. They are islands of life surrounded by the inhospitable environment of icefields. The ecology and evolution of plant and animal species on nunataks is of scientific importance and worthy of special protection.

#### Steele Creek Alpine

The Steele Creek Alpine area is protected because it is the best representation of the Northern Alpine Ecosystem within the park. Protection of this representative alpine area also ensures the preservation of several species of rare plants that are located there. Alpine areas are sensitive to a variety of impacts and deserve special protection.

#### Mt. Hoge/Donjek Valley

The special resources of this area comprise an assemblage of plant and animal communities that are significant to the national parks system. The area supports one of the largest Dall's sheep populations on an all-season range in North America and has the northernmost population of mountain goats on the continent. Wolves and grizzly bears prey upon these ungulates. A number of rare and fragile plants and plant communities add to the significance of the animal communities, producing a valuable ecosystem essentially unaffected by human influence.

#### Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke River Headwaters

The Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke River headwaters provide a habitat for a plant, Braya purpurascens that is rare in Canada and, in the Yukon, has only been collected from this particular site.

#### **Bullion Creek Dunes**

The Bullion Creek Dunes are significant features that have resulted from material being deposited by glacier winds and then modified to form unstable dunes. They are largely unvegetated and are extremely susceptible to disturbance.

#### Tachäl Dhäl (Sheep Mountain)

The Tachal Dhal area comprises a unique combination of valuable but sensitive resources that require special protection. Unrelenting glacier winds have resulted in the deposit of a thin veneer of loess on bedrock, moraines and fans in the Tachal Dhal area. The various wind-formed features are excellent examples of undisturbed aeolian processes. The vegetation of the area and its relationship with the loess deposit is of interest, and it supports a population of Dall's sheep throughout their life cycle. The soils and deposits of the area are dry and highly susceptible to erosion caused by disturbance. Special protection measures are needed to perpetuate these fragile resources and their dependent plant and animal communities.

#### Ä'ąjy Chừ Delta

Delta ecosystems are dynamic resources that depend on periodic disturbances caused by natural processes that are often influenced by humans. The Ä'äy Chừ delta is a unique system characterized by only 28 plant species that have adapted to the cycle of flooding and the saline soil conditions. The Alaska Highway has altered the natural cycle of deposition of silt on this delta. Special protection is merited to ensure its continued existence.

#### Alsek/Kaskawulsh Grizzly Bear Protection Area

The Alsêxh/Alsek and Kaskawulsh river valleys harbour the densest grizzly population in the park. Denning areas are found high in the alpine zone, and valleys provide the diversity of habitats and foods to support grizzlies yearround. Experience in managing visitor use in KNP&R has shown that grizzlies can quickly habituate to humans and that subsequent management actions result in the death of bears. The special grizzly bear protection zone protects grizzlies by reducing their exposure to humans and the accompanying foods and garbage. These measures will preserve what is the best example of a wilderness grizzly population in the national parks system. In addition, the area will protect a number of special features, including aeolian landforms like dunes as well as rare plant communities.

#### Nàłùdäy Dhāl/Goatherd Mountain

The alpine area of Nàłùdäy Dhāl/Goatherd Mountain is protected because it is the best representation of the Coastal Alpine Ecosystem in Kluane National Park & Reserve. A local goat population is another important resource of the area. The fact that this alpine area is one of the few ranges that supports goats in the absence of Dall's sheep is of scientific interest.

#### Lower Alsêxh/Alsek River

The southern portion of KNP&R is influenced by a moderate coastal climate that results in the expression of plant and animal communities differing from other areas of the park that are subject to different regimes. The lower Alsêxh/ Alsek River best represents this more productive ecosystem and protects species and communities not common to the Yukon or the national parks system.

#### Sockeye Lake and River

This area provides critical spawning grounds for kokanee salmon, the freshwater form of sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). This population originated from sea-running stock that was blocked from access to the sea by a surge of the Lowell Glacier, across the Alsêxh/Alsek River. The sockeye salmon is an important fish species in the ecology of Sockeye, Louise and Kathleen lakes and Kathleen River, and it merits special protection. This species is also valuable in the interpretation of the recent geological and biological events of the region.

#### Fraser Creek Fen

The Fraser Creek fen is an important wetland complex in KNP&R. It represents a habitat that is rare in the park and supports nesting trumpeter swans, a species deserving special protection. Female moose and their calves are also known to use this habitat.

#### Airdrop Lake/Hoodoo Mountain Archaeological Sites

Hoodoo Mountain has one of the few undisturbed ancient obsidian quarry sites in Canada. Obsidian from this source has been identified at many sites outside the park, representing some 8,000 years of human use. Considered in total, these sites provide information about pre-contact exchange networks, manufacturing, and how hunting economies dependent on stone tools acquired this vital resource. Due to the sensitivity of these sites, they are not mapped.

#### APPENDIX C

# Framework for Monitoring of Ecological Integrity in Kluane National Park and Reserve – March 2010

|                                 | ECOLOGICAL INTEGRITY INDICATOR                                      |  |   |   |                          |                                |
|---------------------------------|---|--|---|---|--------------------------|--------------------------------|
|                                 | Glaciers and<br>Icefields<br>79-5%                                  | Tundra 9.7%  | Forests 7.6%  | Rivers and<br>lakes 3%  | Wetlands 0.2%            | Cultural<br>Reintegration      |
| Measures<br>for<br>Biodiversity |   | <ul> <li>Dall's sheep</li> <li>Mountain goat</li> <li>Shrubs and plants</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Moose</li> <li>Bears</li> <li>Shrubs and<br/>plants</li> <li>Songbirds</li> <li>Ground<br/>squirrels</li> </ul>  | • Kokanee<br>• Other fish<br>or surrogate<br>(e.g., algae)  | • Wood frogs             | Measures<br>to be<br>developed |
| Measures<br>for<br>Processes    | Arca of<br>• Kaskawulsh<br>change<br>(volume,<br>retreat of<br>toe) | Area of<br>• (Primary<br>productivity<br>• Onset of<br>green-up)<br>• Snow depth   | <ul> <li>Area of</li> <li>Fire<br/>frequency</li> <li>Spruce bark<br/>beetle</li> <li>Forest<br/>structure &amp;<br/>composition</li> <li>Tree<br/>regeneration</li> <li>Downed<br/>dead wood</li> <li>Depth of<br/>organic<br/>matter in<br/>soil</li> </ul> | Area of<br>• Water flow/<br>discharge<br>• Water<br>quality<br>• Dates of<br>break-up<br>and<br>freeze-up<br>• Stream<br>temperature<br>in spawning<br>ground |                          | Measures<br>to be<br>developed |
| Measures<br>for<br>Stressors    |   | Shrub/tree<br>encroachment   | • Habitat connectivity  |   | Habitat     connectivity | Measures<br>to be<br>developed |

Table  $_3$  — Framework for monitoring of ecological integrity in Kluane National Park and Reserve

Note: Measures in bold are ones currently implemented, those not bolded are being developed.

#### APPENDIX D

# Indicators of Wilderness Character

#### WILDERNESS MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE #1: PRISTINE CAMPSITES WITH LITTLE IF ANY SIGN OF OTHER RECREATIONAL USE Geographic Location Indicator Target Cottonwood Trail • Campsite density • less than I campsite for every 2 km of • Campsite perceptibility trail • more than 60% of campsites are barely to not perceptible Alsêxh/Alsek River • Campsite density • more than 80% of river campsites Campsite condition class barely to not perceptible • more than 80% of river campsites have a condition class rating of 12 or less Titl'àt Mān Tágà/ • Campsite density · less than 2 campsites along the Dezadeash River Dezadeash River between Haines Junction and Serpentine Creek Ä'äy Chừ Valley Campsite condition class • no more than one campsite per trail has condition class rating greater than 10 Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke -• Campsite density • less than I campsite for every 5 km of Dän Zhür Chù/Donjek • Campsite perceptibility trail route • more than 80% of all campsites are River Valleys barely to not perceptible WILDERNESS MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE #2: PROVIDE OPPORTUNITIES FOR SOLITUDE AND NATURAL QUIET Geographic Location Indicator Target Cottonwood Trail • Encounters with other • less than 4 encounters with other parties parties per day along the trail Kathleen Lake • Encounters with other • mean number of encounters with other parties parties per day less than 8.7 Alsêxh/Alsek River • Encounters with other • Alsek River travellers report having parties no more than I encounter with other • Aircraft encounters groups every second day • hearing no more than three aircraft every two days

| Titl'àt Mẫn Tágà/<br>Dezadeash River  | • Encounters with other parties  | • less than I encounter with other parties<br>every second day along Dezadeash<br>River between Haines Junction and<br>Serpentine   |  |  |
|---|--|---|--|--|
| Ä'äy Chừ Valley   | • Encounters with other parties  | <ul> <li>hikers do not encounter more than 5<br/>others parties on the trail and more than<br/>3 parties at campsites on average</li> </ul>   |  |  |
| Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke -<br>Dän Zhùr Chù/Donjek<br>River Valleys   | • Encounters with other parties  | • less than I encounter with other parties per day at campsites   |  |  |
| Icefields   | <ul> <li>Encounters with other parties</li> <li>Aircraft encounters</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>mean number of encounters with other parties less than 2 a day along routes, and less than 4 a day at (base) camps</li> <li>mean number of encounters with aircraft less than 1.6 per day along routes, and less than 3.7 per day at (base) camps</li> </ul>   |  |  |
| Off Highway Corridor  | • Encounters with other parties  | • mean number of encounters with other<br>parties less than 7.1 at trailheads, and<br>less than 6.0 along trails  |  |  |
| WILDERNESS MANAGI<br>PROVIDE QUALITY WI   | EMENT OBJECTIVE #3:<br>LDERNESS EXPERIENCES (AS  | MEASURED THROUGH VISITOR  |  |  |
| SURVEYS)  | · · · · ·  |   |  |  |
|   | Indicator  | Target  |  |  |
| SURVEYS)  |  |   |  |  |
| SURVEYS)<br>Geographic Location   | Indicator • Wilderness experience  | Target         • more than 80% of hikers indicate they had a near or total wilderness   |  |  |
| SURVEYS)<br>Geographic Location<br>Cottonwood Trail   | Indicator         • Wilderness experience rating         • Wilderness experience   | Target         • more than 80% of hikers indicate they had a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 80% of day users report  |  |  |
| SURVEYS)<br>Geographic Location<br>Cottonwood Trail<br>Kathleen Lake  | Indicator         • Wilderness experience rating         • Wilderness experience rating         • Wilderness experience  | Target         • more than 80% of hikers indicate they had a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 80% of day users report having a quality wilderness experience         • more than 85% of river travellers report have a near or total wilderness  |  |  |
| SURVEYS)<br>Geographic Location<br>Cottonwood Trail<br>Kathleen Lake<br>Alsêxh/Alsek River  | Indicator         • Wilderness experience rating         • Wilderness experience rating         • Wilderness experience rating         • Wilderness experience         • Wilderness experience   | Target         • more than 80% of hikers indicate they had a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 80% of day users report having a quality wilderness experience         • more than 85% of river travellers report have a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 85% of river travellers report have a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 85% of hikers report having   |  |  |
| SURVEYS)<br>Geographic Location<br>Cottonwood Trail<br>Kathleen Lake<br>Alsêxh/Alsek River<br>Ä'äy Chừ Valley<br>Shấr Ndü Chù/Duke -<br>Dän Zhùr Chù/Donjek | Indicator         • Wilderness experience rating         • Wilderness experience | Target         • more than 80% of hikers indicate they had a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 80% of day users report having a quality wilderness experience         • more than 85% of river travellers report have a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 85% of hikers report having a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 85% of hikers report having a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 80% of hikers report having a near or total wilderness experience         • more than 80% of hikers report having a near or total wilderness experience |  |  |